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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Chairman’s Introduction

The new Board of Thames Water has been in place since | December 2006 We are determmed to
meet our commitments to our regulators and our customers and, in doing so, restore the company’s
reputation  Our first action on behalf of our sharehelders was to nstall a new management team,
with instructions to implement a ‘back to basics’ strategy, focussing on the essentials of the regulated
business serving London and the Thames Valley

My imitial assessment for shareholders 1s that the new management team has made a promising start

Meeting the leakage target to 31 March 2007 was essential and [ am pleased to say that this milestone
was achieved, by a considerable margin  Secunty of supply has also been improved Other
significant achievements 1in water supply include a further improvement 1n the quality of our drinking
water, a reversal of the adverse trend 1n the number of burst mains and reduction of the number of
properties suffering from low pressure to an all time low

The company’s waste water service has also seen some significant improvements  Effluent
compliance has now been restored at almost all of our previously failing works and the number of
pollution incidents has been substantially reduced

Delivering better customer service 1s essential and here too there has been real progress The
response to billing contacts and wrnitten complaints has improved and targets for metenng have been
exceeded, with more than double the anticipated numbers being installed

! need also to report on the key areas where the management team 1s concentrating on making further
improvements The level of unplanned interruptions to water supply to our customers’ properties 1s
not yet satisfactory, nor 1s the proportion of bills based on an estimated meter reading There are still
too many incidents of sewer flooding due to causes such as collapses and blockages Operating costs
are being managed aggressively, but are still above the level agreed at the last price review, and
spending on the capital programme remains behind target

Looking further ahead, there 1s much work to do before Thames Water again leads the water mmdustry
Nevertheless, a heritage that includes innovations such as the London Ring Main, the development of
Advanced Water Treatment and the pioneering Reading sewage treatment works provides mspiration
for the future The Company is well-advanced 1n preparing its Asset Management Plan for Ofwat’s
2009 price review, and 1n setting out a longer-term vision 1n 1ts first Strategic Direction Statement
These documents will be complemented by an updated 25 year Water Resources Management Plan,
identifying the demand and supply measures needed to ensure water supply to our growing customer
base

The Company’s operations have a wide range of environmental impacts and considerable effort 15
made to meet and exceed the requrements of environmental regulation. In addition, climate change 1s
now a sigmficant factor in all our planming We are implementing a strategy that will reduce the
company’s contribution to climate change and prepare for the sigmificant changes forecast in weather
condiions

Finally, on behalf of the Board I wish to commend the performance of the company’s employees
during a difficult tme They have shown enormous commitment and dedication, responding with the
utmost professionalism to a senes of operational challenges, not least a major drought, at a time when
the company’s future ownership was uncertain

The Board now 1ntends to provide stakeholders with a period of business stability, while planming for
the challenges presented by new regulation and environmental change [ look forward to bemng able to
report further progress at this time next year

fhunasSon

Sir Peter Mason KBE
Chairman



Thames Water Utilities Limited

Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’)
INTRODUCTION

This review 1s addressed to the Company's shareholders and has been prepared 1n accordance with the
Accounting Standards Board's Reporting Standard RS1 It serves both as an Operating and Financial
Review for the regulatory year 1 April 2006 - 31 March 2007, and subsequent developments since
that date, and also as a Business Review for the statutory accounting period 1 January 2006 - 31
March 2007 To ensure consistency with the official data reported to Ofwat 1n the Company’s June
Return all data reported in this review (with the exception of the specific financials presented in
sections 8 and 9) 1s for the regulatory year unless otherwise stated

The review contains a number of forward-looking statements that the Company beheves to be
reasonable, based on the knowledge and information available to the Directors at the date of
preparation, but about which 1t 1s unable to give any assurance that they will prove to be correct
Such forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties and are subject to
change at any ime In the event that such risks or uncertainties materialise, the Company's results
could be matenally affected These nsks and uncertainties include but are not hrmted to tisks
associated with the Company’s operational performance, the regulatory regimes under which 1t
operates and the need to obtain planning consents and other authorisations for capital works

1 NATURE OF THE BUSINESS
1.1 Background

The Company 1s the largest supplier of water and provider of sewerage services in the UK, based on
the number of customers served It 15 one of ten companies currently holding appointments as water
and sewerage undertakers (Note 1 page 28) in England and Wales, with a further 14 companies
holding appointments as water only undertakers

In total, the area served by the Company occupies approximately 13,331 km’ and encompasses more
than 9% of the area of England and Wales This includes London and extends as far as Cirencester n
the west, Dartford in the east, Banbury in the north and Haslemere n the south This area has a
population of about 13 5 mullion people, which represents nearly a quarter of the total population of
England and Wales In approximate terms, the Company supplies 3 7 million properties (Just over 8 5
mullion people} with water, and collects sewage from 55 million properties (about 13 5 mullion
people), including 97% of households m 1ts sewerage region

1.1.1 New Ownership

On 1 December 2006, the Company, as part of the wider Thames Water group of companies
(“Thames Water Group”), was acquired by Kemble Water Limited (“Kemble Water”) from the
German utility group RWE AG Kemble Water 1s an investment vehicle for a consortium comprising
Macquarie European Infrastructure Funds, Macquarie Bank Limited and certain other Macquane
managed funds, together with a number of long-term investors made up largely of pension funds and
other institutional mvestors Kemble Water 1s commutted to the strategic objectives outhned
Section 2 of this review The Company’s management 15 focussed on the delivery of regulatory
outputs, improving customer service and corporate reputation, and implementation of efficiencies in
operating costs and capital investment




Thames Water Utilities Limited

Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)
1.2 Regulatory Environment

All water and sewerage undertakers are subject to economic regulation by the Water Services
Regulation Authonty ("Ofwat"), which governs pricing and service standards as explained
paragraph 121 Further information about Ofwat can be found on 1ts website at
http //www ofwat gov uk, including a glossary of water industry termmology Ofwat requires all
companies to publish an annual return contaming a prescribed and comprehensive range of
information, thus enabling 1t to monutor progress and compare performance between companies This
document 1s known as the 'June Return' and the majonty of mformation that 1t contans 1s published
on Ofwat's website towards the end of October of each year Furthermore, in addition to the statutory
accounts filed at Companies House, Ofwat requires companies to prepare a separate set of regulatory
accounts and to publish these on their websites

The Company 1s regulated by other bodies n addition to Ofwat, prmcipally the Environment Agency
and the Drinking Water Inspectorate, in respect of areas such as pollution control and water qualty,
as described in paragraph 1 2 2 below

The Consumer Council for Water (“CCWater”) - an orgamsation that represents the nterests of
consumers and also mvestigates complamts from them about their water and sewerage providers -
engages with the Company on 1ssues meluding price, quahty and value for money of the services
provided by the Company These 1ssues include consumer advice, handling of complaints and matters
of policy

1.2.1 Economic Regulation

Ofwat operates incentive-based economic regulation which imposes caps on price increases, rewards
efficiency and high standards of customer service, and penahises the opposite Ofwat also exercises
powers under UK competition legislation The Company’s relationship with Ofwat 1s therefore 1ts
single most significant external relationship and 1s accorded high prionty at all imes

The Company submuts an Asset Management Plan (“AMP”) to Ofwat for approval for each 5-year
price review period, the terms of which are concluded by means of a Final Determination (“FD”)
published by Ofwat AMP 4 1s the plan covering the period from 1 April 2005 to 31 March 2010,
AMP 5 will cover 2010-2015, and AMP 6 will cover 2015-2020

Price control 1s implemented through the five yearly review, the outcome of which 1s a price cap as
measured by UK Retail Price inflation (“RPI”) plus an adjustment factor determined by Ofwat, which
1s known as 'K' Each company has a unique 'K' factor reflecting the amount that 1t needs over and
above the rate of mflation 1n order to finance the provision of services to 1ts customers 'K' can vary
for each year of the review period, depending on the scale of that particular company's capital
investment programme, cost of capital, and operational and environmental obligations, after taking
into account the potential to mmprove efficiency A company retamns the benefit of any efficiency
savings for the remainder of the five-year period, after which time the benefit passes to customers via
the subsequent price setting process, while conversely the company bears the cost of any under-
performance

Unexpected costs or savings resulting from changes n certain regulatory assumptions during a review
peniod are recorded and agreed by the Company and Ofwat i a process known as 'logging up' or
logging down', the results of which are implemented n practice by adjusting prices at the next review
period In addition, where the change exceeds materiality thresholds, during the first four years of any
5-year period either the Company or Ofwat can mstigate a process to reset the pnice it This
process 1s known as an 'Interim Determunation of K' or TDoK' Finally, all water and sewerage
companies have provisions within their licences to allow price hmts to be reviewed when events
beyond their control have a significant effect on costs or revenues




Thames Water Utilities Limited
Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)

Following the acquisition by Kemble Water, Ofwat has consulted on resulting regulatory 1ssues to
consider whether there was a need for any modifications to the Licence A perniod of public
consultation closed at the beginning of March 2007

In 1ts imtial consultation document, Ofwat proposed several modifications to the Company's Licence,
including -

e To modify Condition P (which deals with the position of an appropnate parent or holding
company) to reflect the new ownership

¢ To require the Company to maintain an investment grade 1ssuer credit rating

e To nclude a cash lock up provision limiting the ability to transfer cash or other assets from
the Company to an associate company in circumstances where the Company's investment
grade credit rating 1s threatened

¢ To introduce conditions relating to adequate systems of planning and internal control

Foliowing the consultation, Ofwat has confirmed that these changes to the Company’s licence will be
made

Ofwat also raised concemns in the consultation about the proposed board structure for Thames Water,
mcluding the lack of executive representation To address these concerns, Kemble Water has
appointed three executive officers (Chief Executive Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Chief
Operating Officer) to the board of the Company to replace three of the existing shareholder-appomnted
non-executive directors Kemble Water will also conduct an effectiveness review of the board
governance arrangements within the next six to 12 months, in line wath the gundelines laid out 1n the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance Ofwat has stated an intention to look carefully at the
ouicome of that review to be assured that the new board structure works 1n the interests of customers
as well as shareholders

1.2.2 Environmental and Quality Regulation

The water and wastewater industry 1s subject to sigmficant domestic and European statutory
obligations with regard, amongst other things, to the management of water resources, quahty of
treated water supphed and of environmental protection and wastewater treatment

Environmental regulation 1s the responsibility of the Department for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs (“Defra”) through the Environment Agency (“EA”), which regulates and enforces water
abstraction consents and treated effluent quality standards, the Drinking Water Inspectorate (“DWI”),
which sets standards for the quahty of dnnking water, and Natural England (the successor to English
Nature) which 1s responsible for the protection of biodiversity

1.2.3 Competition

The Water Act 2003 provides for a framework for competition in the water industry called Water
Supply Licensing (“WSL”) Since 1 December 2005, suppliers - known as licensees - have been able
to supply any prenuses with a likely annual demand of at least 50 megalitres (*MI1”) 1in England and
Wales (a Ml 1s 1 million litres, MI/d means Megalitres per Day) The new arrangements have nearly
doubled the overall number of customers who are able to change supplier to around 2,200 customers

As at 31 March 2007, seven new entrants had been granted supply licences by Ofwat but no
consumers had switched The Company received no new applications during the year for retail supply




Thames Water Utilities Limited

Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)
of water to existing customers within 1ts water region

The Company has 1n place a Code detailing how access to third party water supply licensees 1s to be
granted This complies with the Ofwat Customer Transfer Protocol, which 1s intended to enable
customers to switch between water suppliers

In Apnl 2007, Ofwat published the findings of 1ts internal review into market competition 1n the water
industry  Ofwat 1s consulting on revisions to 1ts WSL guidance and will also set out further 1deas for
longer-term change in a wide-ranging consultation to be launched in the summer As part of the
consuitation process over the coming months, Ofwat plans to seek stakeholders' views on the future of
competition i the water and sewerage industry

1.2.4 Health and Safety

The health and safety duties of the Company are regulated by the Health and Safety Executive
Information about health and safety policy can be found n section 2 2 and performance 1n Table 1 at
the end of the report

1.2.5 Significant Regulatory Issues
1.2.5.1 Section 19 undertaking

On 3 July 2006, the Company gave a legally binding undertaking to Ofwat under Section 19 of the
Water Industry Act 1991 concerning leakage and secunty of supply The Company has commtted to
the following as part of the undertaking

¢ To complete an additiontal 368 km of mains renewal in London at the Company's expense (the
expenditure will never be considered as part of price limits or price setting)

o To bring forward (from 31 March 2010 to 31 March 2009) completion of the existing
Victorian Mams Replacement (“VMR”) programme in London as set out in the Final
Determination of Prices for 2005-2010, being a total of 1,235 km of mams renewal in London

e To meet the reprofiled leakage targets, 1 ¢ reducing leakage by an extra 5 Ml/d by 2009-10

¢ To meet the reprofiled Security of Supply Index (“SoSI”) target securing the 2004 price
review output of 100% by 2009-2010, and

e To submit a fully updated Water Resource Plan by 1 December 2006 (a plan was submitted
by that date and subsequently remutted to the Company for further work)

1.2.5.2 Guaranteed Standards Scheme and Non-Financial data integrity

(a) Guaranteed Standards Scheme

In January 2006 Thames Water informed Ofwat that 1t had discovered that 1t had been

» Failing to achieve required performance standards in customer services set out m the GSS,
and

¢ Failing to make the payments due to customers as required under the GSS

Under the terms of a notice issued by Ofwat (PN 21/06) on 19 July 2006, the company was advised
that Ofwat proposed to impose a financial penalty for our failure to achieve customer service




Thames Water Utilities Limited

Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)
performance standards under the Guaranteed Standards Scheme (GSS)

Ofwat 1s required to 1ssue notice within 12 months of the failure to achieve customer service
standards and the notice apphes only to those performance standard failures that have occurred since
July 2005

As a result Ofwat and Thames Water jointly appomnted Emst & Young LLP to carry out an
independent nmvestigation mto these wregulanties Ofwat also asked Emst & Young to examine
whether there had been any mus-reporting of Thames Water's customer service performance to the
regulator Ernst & Young have concluded thetr investigation and have submitted their final reports to
Ofwat

(b) Non-Financial data mtegrity

On 7 June 2006, Ofwat 1ssued notice under s 203(2) of the Water Industry Act 1991 stating that 1t
considered that the company may have contravened conditions J and/or M of its appointment 1n
providing information m 1ts June Return which may not be reliable, accurate or complete  This notice
would allow Ofwat to take steps to impose penalties on the company in respect of information
contamned n the June Return 2005 1f 1t 1s satisfied that there has been any breach

The company has been required to produce further information, as requested by Ofwat, which 1t has
done 1n accordance with a mutually agreed timetable

Any financial penalty which may be imposed mn respect of each failure or breach may not exceed 10%
of the Company's turnover as set out in Water Industry (Deterrmnation of Turnover for Penalties)
Order 2005 No 477 Thames Water's regulated turnover for 2005-06 was £1 4 bilhon

2 OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES
2.1 Operational Strategy

The Company’s operations are at the heart of the business, ensuring the achievement of regulatory
outputs and the provision of good service to customers

For AMP 4, the previous Board set the following strategic objectives

Focus on the UK regulated business
Dnive efficiency through the UK regulated business to outperform the key requirements set in
the 2004 Final Determination

s Meet all regulatory outputs and deliver stable serviceability in all asset classes
Improve the Company's reputation, credibility and trust with all its customers and other
stakeholders

e Agree with Ofwat the best possible plan for AMP 5 to deliver value to sharcholders and
customers

In addition, the previous Board set strategic objectives for the AMP 5 and AMP 6 pnce review
peniods to deliver long-term regulatory capital value growth through

s Proactive large scale capital expenditure programmes, approprately financed, aimed at
delivering regulatory outputs in major areas

» Continuing with Victorian Mamns Replacement ("VMR") to tackle legacy 1ssues associated
with secunty of supply and leakage

e Concentrating higher levels of capital maintenance on mamtaining the integrity of
underground assets
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Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)

s Developing new resources to mcrease water resource availabihity and therefore improve
security of supply

e Delivering continuous out—performance of the Final Determmnation requirements for AMP 5
and AMP 6

Under new ownership, the Company’s sirategy has a greater intensity of focus on the regulated
business The Company's ultimate parent undertaking has announced its intention to divest the
majority of the activities undertaken by the commercial division of the Group As a result, a number
of collateral transactions affecting the Company are envisaged, including but not limited to transfers
of assets, novation of certain contracts and assignments of intellectual property

Individual members of the Evecutive Management Team are responsible for devising departmental
strategies to achieve the required objectives 1n their own areas of responsibility, with performance
reported monthly to the Board by the Chief Executive  These objectives include operating
sustamnably, improving environmental performance and reducming the Company's climate change

mpacts

Key performance data 1s recorded and monitored through the Company’s ‘dashboard’, which 1s
updated monthly and available to all employees through the Company Intranet The four key areas
1dentified as requiring particular focus are

2.1.1  Regulatory outputs

The achievement of regulatory outputs 1s essential, contributing to customer service, regulatory
confidence, stakeholder credibility and corporate reputation Key outputs include meeting annual
targets for leakage and security of supply, and achievement by 2010 of stable serviceabihity for all
classes of assets recognised by Ofwat

2.1.2 Reputation and Transparency

The Company’s corporate reputation 1s an important area of focus The failure to meet the 2005/06
leakage target, while needing to impose a hosepipe ban as a result of the drought, led to much cnitical
comment from the media and other stakeholders The Company’s reputation has suffered as a result,
and research indicates that most of this 1s related to perceptions of performance on leakage A
sustained improvement 1n the Company’s reputation must start with achieving significant long-term
reductions 1n leakage and the delivery of improved customer service

The Company needs to be transparent i the way 1t delivers and reports on the achievement of its
targets This will assist in building long-term reputation, credibility and trust with all stakeholders

2.1.3 Customer Service

A significant improvement 1s needed 1n the service provided to customers, as measured by Ofwat'’s
customer service rankings and by independent assessments of customer satisfaction

2.1.4 Efficiency

The Company needs to achieve efficiencies in both operating costs and capital investmment Agreed
capital outputs must be delivered within the total funding allowed in current price limits Operating
costs must be no greater than allowed 1in price hmits by the base year for the next Price Review
(PRO9Y)
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Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)
2.2 Health and Safety Strategy

The overall Health and Safety objectives of the Company are to
Prevent injury to employees and others affected by 1ts work
Prevent damage to property

Control accident potential and 111 health
Ensure co-operation and effective communication at all ievels

e Continually improve health and safety management

b B P . « 1
Thc Company has in place

I J
objectives 1n the business and monitor their effectiveness
The primary health and safety nisks that the Company manages on a day-to-day basis are

Work on or near deep water
Construction and tunnelling
Machinery

Streetworks

Confined space work

High voltage electneity
Occupational health hazards
Chermucals and gases
Manual handling

Details of accident and 1ncident rates, etc can be found in Table 1 at the end of this report

3 CURRENT PERFORMANCE

3.1. Water Service
3.1.1 Leakage

The Company has delivered leakage savings that have met the required target for 2006/07, by a
considerable margin  This 1s gratifying for the Company, and particularly for the individuals whose
efforts have made 1t possible, but customers and stakcholders should be able to expect this as
‘business as usuval’ and that 1s unequivocally the Company’s intention

This year’s achievement follows an acceleration of the Company’s Victonan Maimns Replacement
{(VMR) programme and the development and implementation of a Leakage Action Plan that provided
a stronger focus on the efficient targeting of detection and repair activities. One of the key
components was a winter contingency plan ncorporating measures to ensure the right level of
resourcing, predictive weather impacts modelling and severe weather contingency planning This
Plan was fully implemented during the winter of 2006/07 and, together with new optimised pumping
schedules mtroduced in London, made a major contribution to meeting the leakage target

3.1.2 Security of Supply Index

The Company also dehivered improvements to securnty of supply beyond the required target, largely
due to 1ts success n reducing leakage 1in London The Security of Supply Index (annual average) for
2006/07 1s reported as 57 3 agamnst a target of 40 The forecast for the remainder of the AMP4 period
1s that the Company will meet the targets set out in the Section 19 Undertaking given to Ofwat, but
with a deficit remaiming in 2009/10 due to the Company’s planned desahination plant now bemng

10
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Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)
unlikely to be available 1n that time scale

The majonity of the schemes to deliver new water resources or relieve network constramnts are
progressing as planned There have been two changes since the Company’s 2006 Water Resource
Plan was submutted The first 1s the early delivery of the North London Artificial Recharge Scheme
(NLARS) Extenston and the second 1s the revised schedule for the desahnation plant (see section
351 below) An extra schemes hst has been developed to review a wider selection of potential
opportunitics

3.1.3 Drought and Water Efficiency

The second drest period i the last 100 years began in November 2004 From then until August
2006, 19 out of 22 consecutive months experienced below average rainfall This led to low
groundwater levels, resulting in flows 1n local rivers bemg at between one half and a third of ther
normal levels Throughout this period the Company worked closely with the Environment Agency and
neighbouring water companies to make best use of available resources and plan for all contingencies
An Event Team was set up to manage the situation as 1t developed This was chaired at director level,
with technical staff dedicated to managing the event, under a full-time Project Manager Company
technical specizlists from all disciplines were brought 1n as required

The Company ntroduced a hosepipe and sprinkler ban on 3 Apnil 2006 to help ensure best use of
limited supphes and protect the environment The restrictions applhed to the entire Company area and
were the first to be mmposed for 15 years The restnctions were lifted on 18 January 2007 following
substantial autumn and winter rainfall

Throughout the spring and summer of 2006, the Company ran a communications campaign to
encourage customers to reduce their use of water This helped achieve an average reduction n
demand of about 7% from March to September 2006, saving enough water to supply more than one
miilion customers

The promotion of water efficiency to customers 1s an integral part of the Company’s approach to
managing the supply demand balance, and became more cnitical during the drought The Company
undertook 1,435 commercial audits i 2006/07 and, 1 addimion carried out 897 household audits
There was an encouraging take up of free water savings devices by customers, with an estimated
225,000 devices mstalled This represented a 190% increase in activity on the previous year

3.1.4 Drinking Water Quality
The Company delivered an improvement 1n drinking water quality as measured by 490,000 dninking
water quality tests during the calendar year 2006 Water quality tests carried out at customers' taps

showed we achieved 99 98% compliance with national and European standards This compares with
99 95% for calendar year 2005 and restores the Company to a leading position within the industry

3.1.5 Pollution incident

The Company regrets that water discharged from a burst main n the Aylesbury area caused sediment
and silt to enter a nearby watercourse There were no long-term effects and the lessons learnt from
this unusual event have been used to improve operational practices

3.1.6 Metering

30,168 properties had a free meter installed under the optional metering process during 2006/07 This

15 more than twice the expected number The AMP4 regulatory output of 62,770 1s now expected to
be exceeded before the end of the regulatory period

11
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Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR”) (continued)

This 1s the second year of the Change of Occupier (selective) metering tnal as part of the AMP4 five-
year plan The two ornignal trial areas, chosen as being representative of areas with high
supply/demand 1ssues, were supplemented with additional areas to ensure delivery of the programme
In addition, the Company commutted to deliver a further 1,000 nstallations during this regulatory year
to help deliver the required Security of Supply Index (SOSI) performance In total, 17,036 selective
meters were nstalled 1n the year, against a target of 16,445

3.1.7 Water Services Serviceability

All water infrastructure and non-infrastructure serviceability measures have either seen a continued
improvement or have been held broadly stable in 2006/07 The Company experienced 12,196 mains
hursts during the vear This 1s the lowest total for six years and a clear reversal of a previously
deteriorating trend The number of connected properties suffering from low pressure was at an all
time low of 0 03% The Company 1s working hard to reduce the level of unplanned interruptions to
supply Extensive root cause analysis has been carried out to understand the charactenistics and
dnivers for previous events and a targeted strategy 1s being implemented, but meeting the regulatory
target by 2007/08 remains a significant challenge

3.2 Sewerage Service
3.2.1 Sewage Treatment Works Compliance

The effluent compliance of the Company’s sewage treatment works 1s measured on a calendar year
basis The number of works failing numeric consents set by the Environment Agency at 31 December
2006 was 18, a shight improvement on the 2005 position The population equivalent served by works
failing consents was 3 3%, an increase on 2005, mostly due to a failure at one large treatment works
However, the Company’s mtensive action plan to recover comphance at 156 works 1s taking effect
By June 2007 the number of failing works had reduced to one

3.2.2 Pollution Incidents

The Company's incident avoidance process has been working successfully There was a 33%
reduction in the number of incidents compared to 2005 For calendar year 2006 there were 34
incidents in Categones 1 — 3, compared to 51 1n 2005

3.2.3 Sewer flooding

The Company delivered solutions to 830 properties suffering internal flooding from overloaded
sewers, exceeding the target for 2006/07 and making up for the delivery shortfall in 2005/06 It also
met and exceeded the target for a net reduction 1n the register of properties suffenng from flooding at
least once n ten years This was despite a sigmficant increase in the number of new flooding
incidents in 2006/07, largely as a result of eight severe storm events in 2006

The Company has implemented a new process to manage sewer-floodmng ncidents This has been
designed to prevent as far as possible the development of a backlog of properties where there has been
no mvestigation as to the cause of flooding Under this process every property suffering any internal
flooding incident, or an external flooding incident due to overloaded sewers, will recerve a visit from
a Network Engineer within 5 days of the incident A report on the cause of flooding will then be
compiled

Due to the large increase in sewer flooding incidents experienced 1in 2006/07, the Company was
unable to meet all its targets and concentrated its efforts on internal flooding This was disappointing,
but the process has greatly improved the Company’s understanding and gives greater confidence that
properties are entered onto the correct registers in a timely fashion The Company will review this
process and monttor performance over the coming year

12
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Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)
3.2.4 Sewerage Service Serviceability

The total number of sewer collapses in 2006/07 was 530, compared to 916 for the previous year, and
well below the target agreed with Ofwat as representing stable serviceamlity This low value 1s
principally due to the low number of gravity sewer collapses, attributable to the dry weather during
the summer, as well as more rigorous enforcement of the defimtion of a reportable collapse

Despite the low number of collapses the Company has continued with 1ts extensive programme of
mspections to 1dentify and enable repair to sewers where there are integrity 1ssues This year the
Company completed inspection of over 3 times the length surveyed last year, which 15 36% above the
level 1dentified 1n the Serviceability Action Plan The total comprised some 1739%m of sewers,
£51km of which are cntical sewers This mncludes programmes to inspect sewers with high

consequences of failure, for example sewers below railways

The programme of sewer repairs generated by these inspections has also increased since last year with
a total of 68km (up from 37km last year) of sewers replaced or rehabilitated throughout the year,
including 50km of cnitical sewers

The Company’s pollution prevention work 1s progressing and over 2500 visits to commercial and food
preparation premuses have been camed out to ensure that customers are using the sewerage system
appropriately This, together with a variety of other measures, 15 thought to be the reason for a
reduction 1n pollution incidents ansing from the sewerage network of some 22%

33 Customer Services
3.3.1 Caustomer contacts

The Company delivered a sigmficantly improved level of service n response to contacts, responding
to 99 8% of billing contacts within 5 days and to 99 7% of written complaints within 10 days

3.3.2. Meter Reading

Performance on meter reading improved, with 99 2% of metered accounts recerving a bill based on a
meter reading, but the Company recognises that a further improvement will be needed to reach the
regulatory target of 99 73% in 2007/08

A major coniribution to this year’s improved performance was the rollout of the Meter Reading
System Sustainabthity project in August 2006, which introduced an automated system of hand-held
terminals for meter readers The Company also increased the number of meter reading staff and
introduced a resource planning tool to provide greater visibility and control of the workloads for all
meter readers A forecasting model 1s being developed, to enable accurate planning of headcount
requirements for the delivery of operational targets

From December 2006 the Thames Water website has been able to accept meter readings from

customers  Customers fill in an online form that generates an email to a team withun Customer
Services who then bill the account accordingly
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34 Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs™)

The Company’s Key Performance Indicators are shown at Table 1 They are based on the 12-month
regulatory year, not the 15-month financial penod covered by these accounts

The Company has a number of focused key performance indicators that 1t uses to manage business
performance These centre on stakeholder and regulatory requirements, including shareholder
returns, regulatory targets, and comphance requirements (for example as to water quality) The
source of the underlymng data 1s based on

s financial statement figures for EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and
Amortisation), and Regulated Capital Expenditure (“Capex’) spend, and,

e internal Company data that has been audited by the Company's Reporter (Halcrow
Management Sciences Limmted, see Note 2 page 28) in the case of the Water Service,
Wastewater Service and Customer Service KPIs included in the June Return filed with Ofwat

The Company’s KPIs are grouped together i the Company’s ‘dashboard” which 1s updated monthly
and provides an ‘at a glance’ view of performance to the Board, management and staff

35 Looking Ahead at Key Operational Issues
3.5.1 Leakage and Security of Supply

Reducing leakage remains the Company’s biggest priority — especially in London, where the level of
leakage 1s still above the national average Over the five years to 2010 the Company intends to invest
more than £500,000 a day to reduce leakage a total of around £1 15 billion

The Company’s Victonian Mains Replacement (VMR) programme will provide the majority of the
reduction 1n leakage as old pipes are replaced by new n the leakiest parts of London  Although this
work 1nevitably involves some short-term disruption to residents and commuters, 1t will bring many
long-term benefits, most importantly a reduction 1n the potential for future bursts and leaks, thereby
lessening the need for unplanned streetworks A great deal of effort 1s devoted to mimmising
disruption — for example, as much work as possible 15 completed using ‘no dig’ technology, which
removes the need to dig long trenches along streets

The Company will also continue to mmprove the targeting and repair of leaking mamns The
development of a Leakage Action Plan in 2006 has led to many process improvements being
wdentified, which will continue to be implemented throughout the coming year

In addition to accelerating efforts on leakage and mains replacement, the Company will be delivering
a number of new water resources schemes, increasing efforts on water efficiency through more water
audits with its customers, and continuing to expand 1ts metering programme 1n order to meet targets
for restoring secunty of supply

To achieve secunity of supply by the end of AMP 4, the Company 1s dependent on the construction
and comrmssioming of 1ts first desalination plant, in East London This plant has been the subject of a
planming inquiry for which the outcome was announced on 14 June 2007 The Secretary of State for
Communities and Local Government and the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs accepted the decision of the Inspector who held the public inquiry that the appeal should be
allowed and that plannuing permssion should be granted subject to an amended Section 106 Unilateral
Undertaking, which will formally refer to the agreement of the parties as to the appointed use of the
desalination plant The Company has taken steps to partially mitigate the delay to the desalination
plant as described 1n section 3 1 2 above and has brought forward several water resource schemes as
well as investigating sources previously assessed as uneconomic
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The Company 1s also carrying out a large engmeenng project to improve the way that 1t supplies
water This 1s called the 'Network Improvement Project’ and has two main areas of work

s dividing up large water supply areas (known as zones) into smaller areas in order to deliver
water more efficiently and meet local demands, referred to as 'zonal reconfiguration'

e carrying out 'pressure management' to reduce the strain on water mans, caused by variations
n pressure throughout the day and night as people's demand changes, and thereby reduce the
hkelithood of bursts

3.5.2 Ensuring Water for Future Generations

The Company's water region 1s one of the driest in the UK Lonrdon actually receives less rainfall
each year than cities which are generally perceived to be much dner, such as Rome, Dallas and
Istanbul About 24% of water supply 1s derived from groundwater and 76% from rivers Licensed
abstraction n the Company's catchment 1s equivalent to 55% of the effective rainfall, making this one
of the most intensively used catchments 1n the world

In order to ensure there 1s sufficient water to supply the Company’s drinking water customers, both
now and 1n the future, the Company needs to manage 1ts water resources, treatment and distribution
efficiently and effectively The Company also needs to help customers to use water more efficiently —
current use in the water region 1s an average of 159 hitres of water per person per day - and demand 15
rising as a result of population growth, smaller households, changing water-use habits and climate
change The importance of this was highlighted in the drought of 2005/06 (see section 3 1 3), but the
Company has had a comprehensive water efficiency strategy in place for over ten years, focusing on
raising customer awareness of the need to use water wisely and providing water saving advice and
access to water saving products

To meet these long-term water resource challenges, the Company 15 committed to a 'twin-track'
approach, addressing both the management of demand for water, and developing new schemes to
increase supplies

The long-term supply and demand strategy 1s set out in the Company’s Water Resource Plan, which
was updated towards the end of 2006 Each water resource zone 1s assessed in terms of supply
capability and expected demand The assessment takes into account future trends including
demographic, legislative and climate changes On the basis of these assessments, the Company plans
demand management activities or resource development schemes

Even with major progress on reducing leaks and encouraging water conservation, the Company 1s still
anticipating a significant shortfall between demand for water and the amount 1t can supply during a
drought, and a deficit 1n supplies mto the future The Company 1s currently working on two major
proposals to supplement water resource availabiiity

+ A proposed desalination plant 1n east London, which would use reverse osmosis technology to
convert brackish water from the Thames estuary into drinking water

« The Upper Thames Major Resource Development Project, a proposed new reservoir that
would boost supplies to London and parts of the Thames Valley from about 2019 The project
is currently mn the pre-planning phase, with an Environmental Impact Assessment ("EIA")
being undertaken, and will form part of the Company’s 2008 Water Resource Plan
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3.5.3 Drinking Water Quality

The Company 1s not complacent about mamntaining 1ts high standards of dnnking water quality The
coliform (Note 3 page 28) comphance at water treatment works was of concern, with 12 failures
recorded at eight works, although the results did not affect the overall comphance figure An
improvement programme has been agreed which 1s expected to lead to some immediate improvements
during 2007/08, although some actions will take a number of years to complete

3.5.4 Sewerage Service

The Company 1s committed to improving 1ts performance on wastewater comphance and 1s delivering
a plan to return to stable serviceability for 1ts non-infrastructure sewerage assets The key components
of the plan are an increased number of front line operators, additional training for operators, increased
sampling of influent and effluent, and increased mvestment at all treatment works i1dentified as being
at sk of failing consent standards

The disposal of fats, oils and greases into sewers 15 responsible for approximately one half of the total
blockages (60,396 in 2006/07) dealt with by the Company every year These solidify and cause
blockages that reduce sewer capacity, causing flooding and consequent pollution of watercourses To
combat this, the Company will continue 1ts programme to reduce blockages through proactive sewer
cleaming, research and customer education

By Apnl 2007, the Company will have completed CCTV surveys of 1,600 kilometres of sewers This
has enabled the 1dentification of sewers in need of renovation to avoid collapse The Company will
deliver this renovation programme during the remainder of AMP4 and continue with 1its CCTV
programme to inform plans for AMP 5 and beyond

The Company will continue to deliver solutions for properties affected by flooding from overloaded
sewers, aiming for a further 3,570 properties to have been alleviated by April 2010

3.5.5 Thames Tideway Tunnel

The River Thames can be affected by sewers overflowing during heavy rainfall Generally, in winter,
the higher nver flow means that little, 1f any, environmental damage 15 caused However, in summer,
the niver flows are generally lower so discharges may reduce the levels of oxygen in the water,
resulting 1n fish and other aquatic life being killed There are also aesthetic 1mpacts from sewage-
derived hitter and health 1mpacts on recreational users of the river The Thames Tideway Strategic
Study assessed a number of possible options and concluded that the best technical and value for
money solution was a storage and transfer tunnel running under the nver This tunnel, almost 35km
long and over 7m wide, will intercept storm discharges and take storm sewage to Beckton sewage
treatment works in East London The Government concluded in March 2007 that the tunnel should be
built, in order to comply with the EU Urban Waste Water Directive  On current estimates the project
will cost approximately £2 billion and 1s expected to be completed around the year 2020 The
Company 1s currently mn discussion with Ofwat 1o ensure appropnate funding for this project

3.5.6 2012 Olympic Games
Thames Water Utiliies Linmted 1s working with the Olympic Delivery Authority to ensure adequate

water supplies and sewerage services are available for the Olympic Park and other facilities associated
with the London 2012 Games, within the Company’s statutory area
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4 RELATIONSHIPS AND RESOURCES

4.1 Employees

The employees of the Company have continued to demonstrate enormous commitment and dedication
during a difficult pernod Operational 1ssues such as leakage, secunity of supply and a potential
drought have had to be tackled against a backdrop of uncertanty as to the future ownership and
structure of the Company

Upon acquisition by Kemble Water, there were a number of senior management changes and
organisational restructures including the appointment of a new Chief Executive, Chief Operating
Officer and Board of Directors

A new People Strategy has been developed in partnerstup with the trade unions, which seeks to
develop a positive working environment that celebrates diversity and inclusion, and which provides
excellence in HR solutions, products and processes This strategy has introduced a new Performance
and Development Review process for employees, aiming to make the most of everyone’s
contributions and potential by directly linking personal performance with the core objectives of the
business and 1ts values

The Company recognises the importance of having a positive employee relations climate and has
reaffirmed its comrmitment to working 1n partnership with 1ts recognised trade union

Given the change of ownership there has been a focus on ensuring that effective communication
channels operate throughout the orgamsation, with briefings taking place with both management and
staff to increase understanding of the management structure, ways of operating and business plan

Staff turnover increased from 8 2% 1n 2005 to 14% 1n 2006 The mncrease largely reflected the loss of
approximately 222 employees through redundancy related to restructuring and streamhining of
business operations However, overall headcount i 2006/2007 increased as the Company ncreased
the number of people working on the top business prionties, e g growing the number of people
dedicated to fixing leaks and replacing Victorian Water Mains The average headcount for the penod
was 5,285 Full Time Equivalents (FTE), reducing to 5,119 FTE as at March 2007 In addition 46
graduates were recruited to the Graduate Programme and 45 modem apprentices were hired
Reported sickness absence was 3 0% for the period

4.2 Stakeholders

Establishing and mantaining relationships with stakeholders 1s of vital importance to the Company
Stakeholders represent important constituencies and can have considerable influence over the
Company’s operations and, ultimately, business success The Company’s approach to engaging
stakeholders 1s a two-stage process The first 1s to make contact and understand expectations and
aspirations, the second 1s to manage the 1ssues that emerge from stage one and the ongoing
relationship

Key stakeholder groups include regulators such as Ofwat, the DWI and the EA (deait with separately
at section 1 2 above), domestic and commercial customers, CCWater, Local and Regional Authornities,
MPs and MEPs, Natural England, local nterest groups, employees, Trade Unions, suppliers and
contractors In addition, the Company has a speciahsed sub-set of stakeholders interested primarily in
financial performance, such as the capital markets

The Company maintains contact with stakeholders both reactively and proactively Key stakeholders

(those orgamsations with whom the Company has contact on a range of 1ssues) have a designated lead
contact within the Company, with responsibility for keeping n touch and ensuning good two-way
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communications Other stakeholders are contacted on an ‘1ssues’ basis, often through workshops
designed specifically to facilitate stakeholder engagement There 1s a designated lead individual 1n
the Company for each major 1ssue

The Company momtors customer and stakeholder expectations and perceptions on an ongoing basis,
through quarterly customer satisfaction research and an annual reputation study Both research
projects provide a valuable insight into the way the Company 1s perceived and help to identify areas in
which 1t should seck to improve performance

4.3 Customers

The Company recogmses the importance of good customer relations and improving customer service
A review 1s curtently being carried out on how to incorporate customer concerns more effectively mto
1ts day-to-day business operations

There are several channels through which customers and the Company can contact each other,
mcluding by post, telephone or e-mail In addition, an onhne facility (see section 4 5) has recently
been established for customers to advise the Company of a change of address and to leave meter
readings The Company intends to increase 1ts facility for customers to ‘self-serve’ where this
1mmproves customer expertence and meets expectations

The Company’s Customer Service Centre looks after all types of customer, including domestic,
vulnerable, small/medium enterprises, large key accounts and commercial chains It 1s responsible for
billing and collecting payment for water and sewerage service charges and also acts as the front-end
for service dehvery, handling contacts from customers about their water supply and sewerage
services The main contact medium is by telephone — the contact centre receives over 4 million calls
annually - including self-service options for billing enquiries

The Company’s Customer Assistance Fund continues to encourage customers on low incomes to act
responsibly through sensible budgeting More than 5000 customers have been helped by the fund
since 1t was set up m 1997, with approximately 700 joiming in 2006/07

The Company continues to offer a Vulnerable Tanff Scheme to help households with a metered water
supply that receive certain benefits and have a need to use more water than average This capped tanff
ensures that these households are not placed at a disadvantage by their genuine need to use extra
water More than 2000 customers are benefiting from this scheme wiath 631 jorning 1n 2006/07

The Company works closely with CCWater on major strategic projects as well as all aspects of
customer service The aim 1s to establish an ongoing dialogue with regard to customer complaints,
wastewater operations and secunty of supply, building on the regular public meetings of the CCWater
Thames and Western regions Looking forward, there are major strategic themes, such as the 2009
Prnice Review, wider metening and affordabihity, where CCWater will play an important role i
mnforming and guiding the Company’s long-term plans
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4.4 Key Suppliers and Contractors

In 2006/07 the Company spent just 1n excess of £1 bilhon on construction, goods and services with a
range of suppliers and contractors Approximately 20 key supphers were engaged with a spend
greater than £10 rmllion each The Company’s policy 1s to establish trading arrangements which are
made following an open non-discniminatory, competitive bidding process Procurement processes
reflect the Company’s corporate responsibility commitments and where applicable comply with the
requuements of EU Directives on Utility Procurement

The Company’s main trading arrangements during 2006 continued to be based on “performance
partnering”  This term describes long term commercial arrangements, collaborative working,
transparency of costs, open access to all activities and processes to ehiminate waste and nefficiency,
continuous improvement against stretch targets and a rigorous performance regime which provides
continuity of work for good performers and reduced work followed by replacement for poor
performers

Performance partnering agreements for operational support activities are based on the above approach
and a number of changes to supplier workload have occurred during 2006

On capital projects, target costs are set by the Company and, 1f not agreed by a performance partner,
are subject to contestation by other contractors Large projects (above £7m for network and £15m for
process) are competitively tendered and a proportion of lower value projects are competitively
tendered as a benchmark to performance partnering This strategy 1s under review and a move to
replace the target cost approach with fixed prices or capped rates where appropnate 1s under
consideration

The Company 1s commutted to continuously reviewing procurement processes in the hght of
developing procurement best practice m the area of sustammability We recogrnise that our
environmental responsibiliies extend beyond the direct environmental mmpact of our process plant
and infrastructure  Our procurement policies require these 1ssues to be assessed as part of all
significant purchases

4.5 Internet

The Company's website (www thameswater co uk) 1s an important communications tool that aims to
meet the information needs of the Company’s stakeholders  The website supports the Company’s
brand and values and provides a key outlet for the Company’s messages The content and
functionality are being steadily improved in response to feedback In addition, a number of
developments have been planned specifically to cater for the clearly expressed wish of a growing
number of customers to ‘self-serve’ online The ability to provide answers to many customer
questions, at any time of the day or mght, and without the direct involvement of an employee, or the
cost of a telephone call or letter, offers a sigmificant opportunity to reduce costs while meeting
expectations During 2006/07 the site recerved an average of 236,733 ‘hits’ per day

4.6 Research and Development

The Company's research and development programme consists of a portfolio of projects designed to
address technical needs across the range of water cycle acuvities R&D deliver innovative technical
solutions through a research programme aligned with business needs to address challenges for AMP4
and PRO9% and also provide specialist technical support to the business Expenditure on research and
development totalled £5 9m for the 15 month penod end 31 March 2007 (year ended 31 December
2005 £53m)
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4.7 Intellectual Property

The Company protects mntellectual property of matenal concem to the business as appropriate,
mcluding the filing of patents where necessary

5 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The Company 1s closely linked to the environment 1n everything it does, and has a range of policies in
place to govern 1ts impacts and interactions with the environment In addition to overall
environmental and corporate responsibility policies, 1t has a range of detailed policies on various
topics, as set out below.

The Company monitors performance against 1ts polictes and related environmental targets, reporting
results 1n its annual Corporate Responsibility Report, which can be downloaded from the Company's
website or obtained from the Customer Centre, PO Box 436, Swindon, SN38 1TU

5.1 Waste Management

The Company continues to manage 1ts waste streams following the principles outhned in Defra’s
waste guidelines Waste streams are sphit into operational waste, capital investrnent works waste, and
general office waste

Support provided by the Company to its construction partners reduces the amount of waste going to
landfill In 2006/7, the Company incorporated Site Waste Management Plans into the design stage of
every capital programme costing more than £200,000 These plans 1dentify potential waste at the
earliest design stage 1n order to minimuse amounts produced and help monitor waste management

New technologies and mnovative solutions to mmnimuse waste and increase recycling are being
constantly explored As an example, sewage sludge ts the main waste produced in the treatment of
wastewater The Company aims to utilise this matertal 1n a beneficial and sustainable way Recycling
treated sewage sludge (also known as biosolids) to agricultural land 1s 1ts main outlet Incineration of
sewage sludge at Crossness and Beckton incinerators 1s the second major disposal route for sewage
sludge, generating renewable energy

The Company has been successful in recycling the ash produced during incineration of sewage
sludge The ash has been found to be an excellent replacement for aggregate and can be used 1n many
different ways, such as in highway works In 2006, 91% of this ash was successfully recycled

5.2 Climate change

Chmate change presents the Company with a serious dilemma All parts of the business are hkely to
be affected by seasonal droughts, hotter and drier summers, generally wetter winters and more
extreme events such as flooding However, the Company 1s also a significant producer of greenhouse
gases because 1t needs to use large quantities of energy to pump and treat drinking and wastewater As
treatment standards become more demanding, energy use generally nises and the Company’s potential
climate change impact will increase

Since the Company operates 1 one of the dnest and most densely populated parts of the UK, and ina
sector that will be particularly sensiive to the impacts of climate change, 1t faces a very real
challenge The recent prolonged drought highlighted many of the difficulties ahead The Company 1s
commutted to reducing 1ts climate change impacts and to bullding adaptation into the way 1ts business
1s operated
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Following the pubhication of its climate change policy, the Company has now developed an integrated
Climate Change and Carbon Management Strategy This 15 expected to be adopted in the coming
year The strategy tackles adaptation to chimate change and the steps the Company can take to
mitigate 1ts 1mpacts Both approaches are essential if the Company 1s to sustainably dehver 1ts
regulatory responsibilities and meet wider stakeholder requirements 1n the future

The strategy aims to provide clear targets and deliverables across the whole of the Company’s
business It builds on substantial related activity already underway, including water resource planning,
energy efficiency, renewable energy generation, and waste minimisation  However, the extent to
which the strategy can be implemented will depend on the way the Company’s regulators choose to
treat funding for climate change mitigation and adaptation at the next price review

53 Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy

The Company’s greenhouse gas (GHG) emussions for 2006/07 were 1,467,7440 tonnes CO2
equivalent This represents a reduction of 12 13% when compared to the 1990 baseline (normalised
per megalhitre of water supplied and wastewater treated)

Overall, 1n 2006/07 the Company consumed 1,193 gigawati-hours (GWh) of electricity, of which
85 2% was purchased from outside the Company and 14 8% was self-generated (compared to 12 6%
in the previous twelve months) Over this period the Company produced more renewable electrnicity
than ever before, generating 157 GWh from 1ts 20 combined heat and power (CHP) engines and two
Incinerators

In October 2006, the Company appointed an Energy Efficiency Manager who began a programme to
assess and improve energy performance at 89 of 1ts largest treatment works and pumping stations The
work complements an ongoing project to improve performance of pumps across the Company’s
operational sites through comprehensive testing and refurbishment

The Company alse conducted a detailed energy audit of its Clearwater Court headquarters and
mmplemented the energy-saving measures 1dentified This resulted in a 40% decrease in energy
consurmption at the site It 1s estimated that this will save almost 400 tonnes of CO2 emussions every
year, based on current headcount

54 Biodiversity

The Company’s reservotrs and landholdings act as a significant biodiversity resource across London
and the Thames Valley, offering opportumties for nature conservation and, where appropnate, public
access and recreation  The Company works to protect and enhance biodiversity on these sites and
also across 1ts wider landholdings, having surveyed over 800 sites to estabhsh their biodiversity
interest and running an annual programme of enhancements

The Company was pleased to win a national conservation award 1n 2006, for its Crossness Nature
Reserve and Southern Marshes project, in partnershmip with Bexley Council and Groundwork South
East London, and with additional funding from the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister This
£500,000 project has seen the restoration of one of the last remnants of grazing marsh in Greater
London, and a range of access enhancements As a result, people and wildlife have been brought
closer together in east London
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6 SOCIAL AND COMMUNITY
6.1 Engaging with Communities

The Company’s business activities make 1t an integral part of a wider society The Company aims to
understand what others expect of 1t and to look for opportunities to work 1n partnership with them
There 1s a clear commitment to engaging positively with all the communities served, and to
minimising any negative impacts that the Company’s activities may have

Compared to previous price preview penods, AMP 4 involves a much larger number of highly visible
construction projects, causing unavoidable disruption for customers and local commumties (e g
VMR and sewer flooding alleviation) The Company has appointed designated coordinators to
oversee all commumcations relating to specific projects This ensures a consistent, proactive approach
across the Company and ensures that messages are delivered effectively to those customers most
affected by the work For example, prior to mains replacement work, local drop in sessions are held
and a senes of information letters are sent, at vanous stages of the work, to residents and businesses
in the area The Department for Transport has included this approach 1n its best practice guide for
streetworks

6.2 Community Investment

The Company’s Community Investment Strategy focuses on three water-related themes environment,
education and healthy living Durning 2006/07 the Company developed and launched the first in a
series of resources to support primary school teachers The 'Aquabatics’ pack 1s a hvely and engaging
introduction to the water business for Key Stage 2 pumls It includes a vaniety of activities and
information on topics such as responsible disposal of waste and saving water at school and at home
The matenals and supporting DVD are available free of charge from the Company’s website to all
teachers in the catchment area

Sport 1s a key element of the Company’s water and healthy living theme In July 2006 the Company
was official water suppher to 16,000 participants at the London Youth Games and to runners in the
2006 Sports Rehef Mile event held on London's embankment The Company also sponsored the Total
Swimming 'Aquateers’ programme, creating a ‘one-stop-shop' of giidance, activities and resources for
the next generation of swimmers

The Company was pleased to continue 1ts partnership with the Greater London Authonity and the
Mayor of London’s office through the London Schools Environment awards These awards are
intended to develop children’s sense of responsibility for the environment Thames Water staff
assisted with school projects on water and the environment during Volunteer Month in March 2007

The Company was designated a '‘London Region Urban Tree Champion' in March 2007 for 1ts long-
standing contribution to improving the urban environment through the Trees for Cities' partnership

The Company also worked with Age Concern and the Metropolitan Police to promote the importance

of drinking water to stay healthy 1n old age More than 60 local residents came to the event which also
raised awareness of the dangers of bogus callers
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6.3 Employee Volunteering

The Company continued its Time to Give' employee volunteering scheme which allows staff to spend
two days a year working with chanty partners, including WaterAid, the Royal Society for the
Protection of Birds and Age Concern A huge variety of activines were undertaken within the
framework of the Company’s long-standing strategic partnership with WaterAid These activities
resulted 1n over £366,300 being raised during the year by staff, pensioners and customers, enough to
provide over 24,400 people 1n the developing world with safe water and sanitation

The Company’s employees also volunteered to tackle a number of environmental commumty
challenges in 2006/7, including five in Swindon that involved work on a therapeutic gardening

project, redecorating an infants’ school and creating a huge mural at an educational city farm

7 PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
7.1 Internal Control

Key features of the system of internal control and nsk management are

e A control environment with clearly defined orgamsation structures operating within a
framework of pohcies and procedures covering every aspect of the business,

¢ Comprehensive business planming, nisk assessment and financial reporting procedures,
including the annual preparation of detailed operational budgets for the year ahead and
projections for subsequent years,

¢ Regular momtonng of nsks and control systems throughout the year, supported by the use of
nisk registers,

+ A self-certification process, whereby management are required to confirm that the system of
internal control 1s operating effectively, and

e An intemal audit function providing independent scrutiny of internal control systems and nsk
management procedures

The directors routinely review the effectiveness of the system of internal control and nsk
management, principally by means of

e Regular presentations to the Board and to the executive management by heads of individual
business umts and functional heads, descrnibing their nsk management strategies and detaihing

the status of significant business nsks,

» Significant changes to the Company’s overall nisk profile are reported to the Audit & Risk
Review Commuttee and the Board,
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+ Standing reports to the Audit & Risk Review Commuttee from the Intermal Audit Department,
and

s Reports to the Audit & Risk Review Commuttee on the results of a self-certification process,
and independent reports thereon by the internal audit department

7.2 Risk Overview

The Company has developed an Enterprise-Wide Risk Management (“EWRM?”) approach to minimise
the organisation’s exposure to unforeseen events and to provide certainty to the management of
identified risks This 1s intended to create a more stable environment within which the organisation
can deliver its strategic objectives This approach allows the Company to i1dentify and manage a
continually updated nsk portfolio, detaihing the nisks to the achievement of the organisation’s strategic
objectives This 1s done by a process of consistent and replicable nsk 1dentification, assessment and
escalation

The Company 1s exposed to a number of potential risks and uncertainties that could have a matenal
mmpact on 1ts long-term performance These compnse a mux of those of internal denivation (1e
operationat risks) and those of external origin (1 e extrinsic rnisks)

7.2.1 Operational Risks

Operational Risks are defined as those that are intrinsic to company performance, they will remain a
constant potential threat to the Company They are, therefore, controlled via internal policies and
procedures Exampies of significant operational risks are

e Failure to deliver the regulatory contract — The Final Determination contains outputs for
the Company covering capital investment and operating performance and efficiencies
Failure to deliver agreed targets may result n fines, intervention by Ofwat and less favourable
future determinations

e Failure to comply with current laws or regulation — The Company operates 1 a highly
regulated and legislative environment Regulatory and/or legislature changes could leave the
Company n breach of one or more changes only until the point at which 1t had been able to
re-align 1ts business to comply with those changes

s Operational loss as a result of a failure to comply with internal processes - The Company
has mmplemented risk controls and loss mtigation actions, and substantial resources are
devoted to developing efficient procedures and to staff training However 1t 15 only possible
to be reasonably (not absolutely) certain that such procedures wall be effective 1n controlling
each of the operational risks faced by the Company
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7.2.2 Extrinsic Risks

These types of nsks are usually of a transient nature, outside of the normal macro-operating
environment of an orgamisation and therefore outside of the organisation’s control They are usually
only relevant during a finite time period and are, therefore, managed via umique and dedicated
response plans The Company has a nsk management process for the 1dentfication of such risks
before they become an 1ssue, allowing influencing and other management responses to be adopted

Examples of significant extrinsic risks are

Future changes in laws or regulations — The Company 1s not funded by Ofwat for changes
in obligations that would affect the whole economy Consequently the Company may, for
example, have to meet the obhgations resulting from changes in environmental legislation
without recourse to Ofwat However, changes that are specific to, or are more matenal for, the
water industry will be funded by Ofwat as a relevant change of circumstance This can be
claimed at an intenim determunation of K 1if the impact meets the Ofwat matenality threshold,
or claimed via logging up at the next periodic price review

Managing increased competition in the water industry — As a result of the reduction 1n the
barriers to entry to the water industry the Company will have to meet the challenges posed by
aspiring new entrants and the resultant effect of competition on its pricing schemes and
modes of operation

Increasing energy prices — Whilst the Company continues to introduce increasing energy
efficiency measures to offset the growing volumes of treated wastewater and clean water 1t 1s
still affected by price fluctuations 1n the energy market

The effects of climate change and long-term changes in weather patterns - As the
Company continues to supply a rapidly increasing population, the effects of climate change
could adversely affect 1ts ability to maintain Security of Supply Index (SoSI) requirements
Consequently, in addition to substantially enhanced demand management measures, the
Company 1s currently making provision for increased storage capacity, greater network
mtegrity and the development of new sources of potable water

8 FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Performance Measure Unit 12 mths to 15 mths to
Dec 05 Mar 07
EBITDA (Operating profit plus profit on sale of £m 7523 9450
fixed asset excluding depreciation and
Infrastructure Renewals Expenditure (IRC))
Regulated Capex Spend (Including IRC) £fm 5585 9197

25




Thames Water Utilities Limited

Operating and Financial Review (‘OFR’) (continued)
9 FINANCIAL POSITION

Tumeover was £1,778 Im for the 15 month penod (year ended 31 December 2005 £1,333 5m)
Turnover has increased due to real increases n price, as agreed with Ofwat together with increases
linked to the Retail Price Index (RPI) However, the impact of the summer 2006 drought has had a
negative rmpact on ncome

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation was £342 1m for the 15 month period (year ended 31
December 2005 £322 7m) Results continue to be adversely affected by increased provision for
renewal of infrastructure assets 1n the next five years and costs incurred during the period 1n respect
of drought management and fuel costs These increased costs have been offset by continuing
operational efficiency programmes

The FRS 17 penston cost for the 15 month perniod was £28 5m (year ended 31 December 2005
£22 6m) To ensure our future pension obligations to employees are met, the Company pension
scheme contribution rate has been increased Further information about the Company’s pension
schemes 1s set out in note 24 on page 86 of these accounts

Capital investment 1n the peniod has been particularly targeted towards leakage reduction, security of
drinking water supplies to our customers, water and wastewater quality programmes and the
alleviation of sewer flooding Gross capital investment of £922 Im (year end 31 December 2005
£558 8m), including net infrastructure renewal expenditure of £136 4m (year end 31 December 2005
£41 8m), was made duning the 15 month period This continuing substantial investment programme 1s
reflected in the depreciation charge of £404 Sm (year ended 31 December 2006 £293 6m)

The Company paid mnterim dividends totalling £656 3 million during the period (2005 £1550
million) The Board does not recommend a final dividend

Details of cnitical accounting policies are given m note 2 to the Accounts on page 65

10 CAPITAL STRUCTURE
10.1 Equity

The Company has an authorised share capital of 1,029,050,000 £1 Ordinary Shares, all of which are
mssue Thames Water Ltd 1s the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital

10.2  Debt financing

Debt financing 1s raised by the Company or through the Company's wholly owned subsidiary, Thames
Water Utilittes Finance Ltd

Moody's Investor Service rates the credit of Thames Water Utilities Finance Ltd as Baal on a long-
term basis with a developing outlook Equivalent ratings published by Standard and Poor’s Rating
Services are BBB+ long-term with a negative outlook The Company’s bomrowings net of cash and
short-term deposits of £3,236 Im million at 31 March 2007 comprised £2,889 9 million of bonds,
£332 5 million of loans from the European Investment Bank (EIB — the Company’s largest investor),
£215 6 milhon of long-term leasing offset by £201 9 mullion of cash and short-term deposits, and £Nil
mullion loans to other group companies
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10.3  Treasury policy

The Company’s treasury function operates with the delegated authority of, and under policies
approved by, the Board of Directors The treasury function does not act as a profit centre and does not
undertake any speculative trading activity The key objectives of funding strategy are defined by the
regulatory regume within which the Company operates and are to ensure that 1t meets all funding
related requirements under the terms of its Licence, including mamntaining access to undrawn
commutted bank facilities 1n order to fund at least 12 months net cash flow and to maintain necessary
bank facilities and access to liquidity 1n order to mamntain an investment grade credit rating as set out
in the terms of the Licence

10.4  Liquidity and resources

The Company’s primary source of liqmdity 1s cash generated from its ongoing business operations
As reflected 1n the cashflow statement on page 55 of the Accounts, n the financial year ended 31
March 2007 net cash generated from the Company’s continuing operating activities was £863 4
milhon for 15 months, compared with £781 2 million for 12 months to 31st December 2005 Ofwat
has established price increase himits to 2010, which wili provide certainty for a large majonty of the
Company'’s revenues from ongoing operations, providing both a stable and a predictable source of
funds

10.5  Shorter-term liquidity

Short-term hquidity requirements are met from the Company’s normal operating cashflow Further
lLiquichty 15 provided by cash and short-term deposit balances, supported by commutted bank facilities
and proceeds from bond pre-funding Cash and short-term deposit balances were £201 9 million at 31
March 2007, compared with £10 3 million at 31 December 2005

Intercompany loans from Thames Water Ltd, which are repayable in less than one year, were £Nil at
31 March 2007, compared with £86 9 mullion at 31 December 2005

The weighted average rate of interest on intercompany loans was 5 5% (December 2005 53%) The
Company had available unutilised commutted loan facilities from its ultimate parent company, RWE
AG of £450 million (December 2005 £150 muilion), of which £450 million expired within one year
(December 2005 £150 mullion) These committed loan facilihes were repaid on the sale to Kembie
Water Post the sale, on 1 December 2006, the Company had available unutihised term commtted
bank facilities of £700m through facilities arranged at the holding company, Kemble Water Limited

10.6 Longer-term liquidity

The Company has effective access to the debt capital markets through its £5 billion Debt Issuance
Programme, which provides for the penodic 1ssuance by its wholly owned financing subsidiary,
Thames Water Utilities Finance Ltd, of debt mnstruments on terms and conditions determined at the
time that the mstruments are 1ssued This programme does not represent a funding commutment, with
funding only becoming commuitted when debt securities have been successfully 1ssued

The Company arranged a new £150 mllion medium-term funding facility from EIB 1n the year, which
remains undrawn at 31 March 2007 Other loans and obligations under finance leases were £3,093 1
million at 31 March 2007, compared with £1,997 5 million at 31 December 2005 Amounts
repayable after more than five years comprise capital market obhgations and other loans repayabie
between 2012 and 2055 Fixed interest rates, for amounts after more than five years, range from 1 680
per cent to 8 35 percent
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10.7  Interest rate and foreign currency management

The Board sets nterest rate management and funding polictes The objectuive of interest rate
management policy is to ensure cost of debt financing 1s within the cost of debt as set out n the
regulatory contract while ensuring a prudent level of protection against mnterest rate volatlity At 31
March 2007, 91% of cutstanding debt obligations were either at fixed rate or fixed index-linked rate
The Company has limited exposure to foreign currency exchange rate movements

10.8  Capital Structure

Following the acquisition of Thames Water by Kemble Water Limited the company 1s undertaking a
review of options with regard to capital structure, including consideration of whether to undertake a
whole business secunitisation of the regulated water company

10.9 Summary

The Board has reviewed the business plan and considers that the Company has sufficient liquidity to
meet the anticipated financial commitments for the next 12 meonths In total, at 31 March 2007,
unutihised commtted facilities of £700 million expiring 1n more than one year, together with cash and

short-term deposits of £201 9 mullion and undrawn funding from EIB of £150 mullion, provide
substantial pre-funding for the Company

Signed on behalf of the Board

David Owens
Chief Executive Officer

Notes:

1 A company that has been appointed to provide water and/or sewerage services to customers in
England and Wales 1s known as an "undertaker" The Company's Instrument of Appointment -
usually referred to as "the Licence" - was 1ssued by the Secretary of State for the Environment
August 1989

2 The Reporter 1s an independent engineering consultant who 1s under a duty of care to report to
Ofwat on the accuracy of the June Retumn

3 Coliforms are an indicator micro-orgamism that should not normally be present in drinking water
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Table 1 — Non-financial Indicators for 2006/7

The non-financial performance measures used by the Company are largely those used by Ofwat to
measure the Company's performance against the regulatory targets set out n the 2004 Final

Determination

Further guidance regarding these Key Performance Indicators 1s provided on page 32

Water Service

Measure Unit Actual Target Achieved
2005/6 2006/7 2000/7
Total leakage Ml/d 862' 810 ° 790 3
Secunty of Supply Index SOSI 22 40° 573
{42 2 critical
period)
DG4 - restrictions on use Population 0% Restrictions 100%
Affected less than 1 1n 20
years
Total mams bursts No 14,901* 12,196
Mains bursts per 000km No 479 37710412 ° 389
DG2 - water pressure number Properties 1,338 2,455 1,189
of properties % 004% 007% 0 03%
Increase in the DG2 register Properties 4,572 - 223
DG3 - unplanned supply Properties 32,171 30,636
interruptions Index 097 049 093
Infrastructure serviceabihity Deteriorating | Deteriorating ° Marginal
assessment
Drinking Water Quality (at
the tap) MZCP
Water quality regulations % 99 95% - 99 97%
Iron % 99 74% - 99 78%
Cat 1 & 2 pollution incidents Incidents 0 0 1
for water
Non infrastructure Stable Stable Stable

serviceability assessment

' JRO6 result was 894ML/d but after adjustment for wastage in houses was 862M1/d which 1s comparable to the

JRO7 target and actuals

? Monitoring Plan target has been substituted by the revised target published by Ofwat 1n the security of supply,
leakage and water efficiency report 2005/06
} Momitoring Plan target has been substituted by the section 19 undertaking target

* Mams bursts have been restated since JRO6 following a change 1n reporting methodology
s Targets taken from Serviceability Action Plan submutted to Ofwat 18 November 2005
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Sewerage Service

Measure Unit Actual Target Achieved
2005/06 2006/07 2006/07
% of sewage works non % 49° 20° 45"
comphant (WRA numeric
consents)
% of sewage works non comphant %% 16 13° 13°
(UWWTD consents)
% of total p e served by STWs % 076" 05° 337
breach of WRA consents
% of total pe served by STWs % 221° 0s” 0"
in breach of UWWTD
consents
Intermittent discharges deemed % 98 9 976 930
satisfactory
Sewage sludge managed in a % 100 100 100
satisfactory way
Pollution incidents process No 51° 30-50 " 34
STW) category 1,2 and 3
Sewerage non infrastructure Deteriorating Margtnal Deternorating
serviceability assessment
Total sewer collapses n the
year No 898 1079 1 530
Sewer collapses per 1000km No 135 1341 78
Pollution incidents at CSOs No 1227 156 "1 95"
and foul sewers categories 1,2
and 3
Sewerage infrastructure Marginal Deterorating Stable
serviceability assessment
DGS5 - Properties at nisk of
mternal flooding
Twice 1n 10 years No 660 849 575
Once 1n 10 years No 3,065 4,560 2,599
Once 1n 20 years No 14,080 n/a 12,567
Properties flooded 1n the year
Internally flooded due to No 495 236 648
overloaded sewers
Internally flooded due to No 562 718 1,225
other causes
Externally flooded due to No 162 347 1,117
overloaded sewers
Externally flooded due to No 3,430 4,182 5,489

other causes

" Reporting based upon calendar years

! Targets taken from Serviceability Action Plans submitted to Ofiwat
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Customer Services

Measure (%) Actual Target Achieved

2005/06 2006/07 2006/07

DG6 - Responding within 5 days to customer 296 99 2 99 8

billing enquiries
DG7 - Responding within 10 days to written 990 996 99 7
complaints

DGS8 - Providing bills for metered customers 98 65 99 73 9% 24
based on a meter reading

DGS - Calls abandoned 41 40 7 5 (including

IVR calls -3 67

excluding IVR)

Overall Performance

Overall Performance Assessment (“CPA™) 362 343
score

Employees

People and Health and Actual Target Achieved
Safety: 2005/06 2006/07 2006/07
Absenteeism % 29 n/a 30
Injury Rate per 1000 No 133 107 81
employees

During the 15 month period there were no fatalites, prosecutions or enforcement notices directly
affecting the Company There were however, 56 reportable accidents n total Four were ‘major
mnjuries’ the remainder were injuries resulting on more than 3 days absence (as defined under the
Reporting of Injuries, Ilinesses and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations (‘RIDDOR’) 1995) As a
result of these reportable injury accidents, 2003 days were lost 1n total Also during the penod, there
were 6 ‘Dangerous Occurrences’, as defined under RIDDOR
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Methodelogy and Calculation of KPlIs:

1

2

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

Leakage (Total Rolling Average) This measure 1s based on a 12 month rollng average for
operational leakage across the Company and 1s aligned with the Company’s ‘reported’ leakage
calculation approach as agreed with Ofwat
SoSI (Annual) The secunty of supply index (“SoSI”) describes the companies planned and
reference levels of service for present and future water supphes for average demand 1n a dry year
DG4 (Water restrictions) This mdicator 1s a measure percentage of the population affected by
hosepipe restrictions
Serviceability (Infrastructure and Non-infrastructure) These indicators are based on the concept
of serviceability to customers Overall trends in a range of indicators that describe the
performance of assets 15 exammed and judgements are made as to whether the capital
maintenance carried out by the Company over the period has resulted 1n stable, improving or
deteriorating services to customers The four classes of assets and the leading serviceability
indicators are

a Water Infrastructure Measured by the number of mains bursts

b Water Non Infrastructure Measured by dnnking water quality

c Sewerage Infrastructure Measured by the number of sewer collapses

d Sewerage Non Infrastructure Measured by sewage works effluent complhance
DG2 (Inadequate Pressure) This indicator shows the number of connected properties that have
recerved pressure below the reference level (10m head)
DG3 (Supply Interruptions) This performance indicator 1s based on proportion of connected
properties subject to supply interruptions of >6, 12 & 24 hours converted to a points score
Water Quality (mean zonal comphance} This measure ndicates the Company’s overall
performance with regard to water quality across each water zone based on a basket of important
water quality parameters
Pollution Incidents — the number of pollution ncidents occurring on either the water or waste
network and treatment sites A CSO 1s a Combined Sewer Overflow which diverts excess storm
water and diluted sewage to a nearby watercourse The categories are nominated by the
Environment Agency and describe the severity of the incident
STW Comphance (Water Resources Act 1991 (“WRA”} Compliance) This 1ndicator
demonstrates performance of sewage treatment works agamnst Environment Agency effluent
consents based on the Water Resources Act 1991
STW Comphance (UWWTD) This indicator demonstrates performance of sewage treatment
works against the Urban Wastewater Treatment which 1s relevant for all sites with a population
equivalent greater than 2,000
Intermuttent Discharges These are consented discharges to watercourses that may be made from
combined sewer overflows or storm tanks at sewage works
% of unsatisfactory sludge disposal This indicator monitors the quality compliance of sludge
production at the Company’s sludge treatment works against agreed standards
DGS5 (Sewer Flooding - nnsk) This indicator examines company performance 1n respect of mternal
sewage flooding of properties (no of properties at risk of sewer flooding)
DGS5 (Properties internally flooded n the year) These measures demonstrate the number of
properties internally flooded n the year due to either hydraulic incapacity (overloaded sewers) or
from other causes (sewer blockages, collapses or equipment failure)
DG6 (Billing Enquirtes) This indicator shows the percentage of billing contacts that the
Company responded to within five working days
DG7 (Complaint Handling) This indicator shows the percentage of written customer complamts
that the Company responded to within ten working days
DG8 (Meter Reading) This indicator shows the percentage of metered customers who receive at
least one bill during the year based on a meter reading taken by either the water company (or its
representative) or the customer
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18 DG9 (Call Abandon Rate inc IVR, 1 ¢ Interactive Voice Recognmition) This measure indicates
the abandonment rate of calls to the Company’s advertised telephone numbers including those
dropping out from the automated handling system

19 OPA (Overall Performance Assessment) This 15 a measure of a company’s overall performance
used by Ofwat to incentivise good performance and penalise poor performance at periodic price
reviews The measure 1s based on a weighted basket of operational, environmental and customer
service performance

20 Absenteeism This measure indicates the average percentage of their ime that employees were
unavailable based on sickness

21 Injury Rate This 1s the year to date measure for lost time associated wiath incidents per 1000
employees The goal 1s for significant reductions, however the Company aspiration 1s for zero or
as low levels as are reahistically achievable

Commentary on the Company’s current and future performance aganst these measures 1s contained m
section 3
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The term 'corporate governance' 1s generally taken to refer to the supervision of how a company 1s run
and how the risks to 1ts busimess are managed It embraces regulation, corporate structure, and the
function of the Board of Direciors

The Company's shareholders and directors are all commmtted to maintaiming high standards of
corporate governance This commutment 18 underpinned by the fact that, under the terms of its
Licence from Ofwat, the Company 1s required to pay particular regard to the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance (the “Code”), which 1s something that generally applies only to companies
whose shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange The mtroduction to this document
acknowledges that departure from the Code's provisions may be justifiable i particular

considers that a significant number of the provisions of the Code are not directly applicable, since the
Company's shareholders have already established a wnitten framework governing the matenal aspects
of the day-to-day operation of all companies within the Thames Water group as a whole

An explanation of specific areas of non-compliance with the July 2003 version of the Code (which 1s
applicable to the period ending 31 March 2007) 1s set out below

e Section A.1.1: Certain matters are reserved to the Board of Kemble Water Holdings Limited
There 15 a schedule of matters delegated to executive management but there are no formal
schedules in place for matters reserved to intermediate company boards, including that of
Thames Water Utilities Limited
Section A.1.3: There 1s no senior independent non-executive director (“SINED™)

Section A.2.2: The Chairman was not independent at the time of appointment and the
shareholders’ agreement was modified accordingly

¢ Section A.3 The composition of the board 1s governed by Ofwat’s requirements as described
by the Ofwat consultation document (see “Board Membership” below)

¢ Section A.3.3: Although three of the directors are considered to be independent non-
executive directors (“1NEDs”) none of them has been formally appointed as the SINED

¢ Section A.4.1: The Compensation & HR Committee fulfills the major functions of both a
Nomunation and Remuneration Commuttee The majonty of members of that Commuttee are
shareholder representative non-executive directors NEDs and not iNEDs  There 15 no
requirement for an 1INED to be present in order for there to be a quorum The Commttee 15
advisory only and makes recommendations to the Board

e Section A.4.3: The appointment of the Chairman 1s a shareholder reserved matter

e Section A.4.4: In comphance with the Companies Act 1985, the terms and conditions of
appointment of the non-executive directors are made available to the shareholders

e Section A.7.1: Appointment of directors 1s governed by the Subscription and Shareholders’
Agreement (“SSA™)

e Section B.2.1: The majority of members of the Compensation and HR Commuttee are
shareholder representative NEDs and not INEDs

e Section B.2.2: Matters are reserved for the Board under the SSA and the Compensation &
HR Commttee may make recommendations at any time

» Section C.3.1: The majority of members of the Audit & Risk Review Commuttee are
shareholder representative NEDs and not iINEDs
Section C.3.6: Auditors are appointed by the shareholders in accordance with the SSA
Schedule A: It 1s only intended to seek Board approval to the new LTIP

The Board, having reviewed the extent of compliance with the Code, considers that the various

departures from 1ts terms are justified, and looks to focus on the strengths of the Company's
compliance regime as a whole
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The Board has adopted, and regularly reviews, a Schedule of Delegated Authorities that limits the
financial and other comrmtments that may be entered inio by executive management without further
formal approval either at Board or shareholder level

Board Membership

It 1s standard practice for Ofwat to consult on any takeover within the UK water industry  In
February 2007, Ofwat published a consultation paper stating that 1t wanted assurance that the Board
has appropnate engagement with the day-to-day running of the company and that 1ssues raised by
stakeholders, mcluding itself, will be given due consideration by the Board Ofwat invited comments
on the structure of the Board and its compatibility with good corporate governance of a regulated
water company It also proposed certain amendments to the Company's Licence Following the close
of the consultation period on 5 March 2007 the Board has been in dialogue with Ofwat over the
responses received and the composition of the Board has been revised from its oniginal structure upon
inception 1n December 2006 to meet the concerns raised 1n the consultation

The Board 1s confident that 1t acts as mdependently of the shareholders as 1s feasible, and that 1t takes
decisions objectively 1n the best interests of the Company It also believes that it has demonstrated 1ts
commitment to ensuning that the Company's obhigations to 1ts stakeholders are understood and met
and that the necessary financial and management resources, and systems of planming and internal
control, are 1n place to achieve these obligations Supported by the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO”)
and the executive management team, the Board 1s taking positive action towards regenerating the
Company’s values and standards, and establishing a clear strategic direction for the future

The current Board of Directors 1s chaired by Sir Peter Mason, KBE Sir Peter has had a long and
distingwished career in the engineering and construction industries, including Private Finance
Imtiatives (“PFIs") and design and project management He has also held several public service
appomtments, primarily with the Department for Trade and Industry Sir Peter's current external
appomntments include directorships of BAE Systems plc, Acergy and the Olympic Delivery Authonty
Since he holds directorships in other group companies, Sir Peter 1s not considered to be independent,
and nor was he so upon appointment As Chairman, he 1s responsible for leadership of the Board,
mcluding ensuring 1ts effectiveness 1n all aspects of 1ts role and n setting 1ts agenda As well as
making sure that there 1s effective communication with the Company's shareholders, he 15 also
responsible for ensuring that the directors receive accurate, timely and clear information and that
constructive relations exist between the Board and the executive management

As of 24 May 2007, the Board comprises 15 directors, 12 of whom are non-executive with the
exception of Peter Antolik, who was onigmnally appointed as a non-executive director but has been
acting 1n an interim executive capacity as Director of Regulation since 1 February 2007, together with
3 executive directors, namely the CEO, Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and Chief Operating Officer
(“COO™ The directors are confident that they have a clear understanding about the expectations of
all stakeholders, including the ultimate shareholders on whose behalf they are appointed Between
them, the directors have a wealth of management and financial experience, together with extensive
specialist knowledge of the water ndustry and other regulated utihities Both the Board and Ofwat
consider three of the directors to be independent non-executives

These are Stephen Box - former Finance Director of National Grid, Michael Pavia - former Chief
Financial Officer of the London Electnicity Group, and Willem Smit - who was Managing Director of
the regulated utility TXU Europe The Board considers, and Ofwat has agreed, that Stephen Box
fulfils the definition of independence notwithstanding that he also serves on the Boards of Wales &
West Utilities Limited and MGN Gas Networks together with fellow directors Peter Antohk and
Martin Baggs David Owens, the CEO, has sigmficant expertence of regulated utility management
having served as CEO of 24Seven Utility Services (the electnicity distnbution arm of Eastern
Electnicity and London Electricity) Dawid 1s supported by COO Steve Shine who most recently
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served as Chief Executive of the construction services company SGB Services Limited, and by CFO
Simon Batey who jomned the Thames Water group 1in 2006 from United Utihties plc and 1s a non-
executive director of Arriva ple, and Chairman of its Audit Commuttee

Committees of the Board
There are four standing committees of the Board

- Audit & Risk Review

- Regulatory

- Health, Safety & Environment
- Compensation & HR

Each Commuttee has written Terms of Reference and, between them, they advise the Board on a range
of matters that are commonly dealt with by Audit, Remuneration and Nomination committees From
time to time other Board commuttees are formed to deal with specific matters, for example drought

¢ The Audit & Risk Review Commuittee's duties include monitoring the integrity of financial
statements, the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management systems, internal and
external audit functions, and arrangements for employees to raise concerns, 1in confidence,
about possible wrongdoing n financial or regulatory reporting or other matters One
particular function of the Commutiee 1s to oversee the non-audit services provided by the
Company's auditors {currently PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP)

¢ The Regulatory Commuttee reviews the governance, policy and strategy of decisions with
water industry-specific regulatory implications and progress on delivening the levels of
service and performance required by Ofwat It also provides guidance on such regulatory
matters and oversees the preparation and submission of documentation to Ofwat and other
regulators

s The Health, Safety & Environment Commuittee's responsibilities include monitoring
environmental protection, incident and accident prevention, promotion of a health and safety
culture, contractor management and workplace planning, control and reporting 1ssues

e The Compensation & HR Commttee's duties include reviewmng the appomntments and
remuneration of senior executives and senier management, ncentives and bonus
arrangements, and performance targets

Membership of the Audit & Risk Commuttee, the Remuneration Commttee, the Nomnation
Commuttee, the Health, Safety & Environment Commuttee, and the Compensation & HR Commuttee

are set out below

Prior to I December 2006

Audit Committee C Bowe (Chairman), S Shipman, Sir John Gains

Environmental & Corporate Sir John Gains, R Aylard , J Pelczer, ] England,

Responsibility S Shpman (Chairman)

Health & Safety Review Commttee Sir John Gains (Chairman), J England, J Pelczer

Regulation Commttee S Buck (Chairman), J Pelczer, S Batey, S Walker,
R Aylard, J England

Remuneration Commuitiee S Shipman (Chairman), C Bowe, Sir John Gains

Nomination Commuttee J Pelczer (Chairman), C Bowe, S Slipman, Sir John
Gamns
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Post 1 December 2006

Audit & Risk Review Committee S Box (Chairman), M Baggs, L Webb

Compensation & HR Committee M Stanley (Chairman), Sir Peter Mason, W
Smit, C Deacon

Health, Safety & Environment Commuttee M ] Pavia (Chairman), M W Baggs, G
Matthews

Regulatory Commuttee P Antolik (Chairman), M Baggs, S Box, R
Gregor

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings

The former Board of Directors met 17 times between 1 January and 1 December 2006 and the new
Board met twice between 1 December 2006 and 31 March 2007

The table below gives attendance details for Board and Committee meetings between 1 January 2006
and 1 December 2006 (1 ¢ the date when the Board and Commuttee structures changed) The Board
considers that 1t 15 too early mn the cycle of meetings of the new Board and its commuttees for such
attendance details to be meaningful and, therefore, these are not included at this time

All directors are entitled to attend Board meetings either in person or by telephone or video
conferencing This enables those who are unable to attend meetings 1n person to partictpate equally m
discussions and decisions In addition to the directors, a number of official observers also have the
nght to attend Board meetings

All directors are entitled to attend and observe commttee meetings, and certain semor executives
attend by mnvitation
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Total- number of 17 4 5 ’ 8 3 11
meetings held
Richard Aylard (3) 11 3 5
Simon Batey (1) 3
Steven Buck (3) 15 6
Jeremy England (3) 6 3 2 10
Jeremy Pelczer (3) 16 5 |
Stephen Walker (3) 16
Werner Bottcher (2) 1 1
Colette Bowe (3) 12 4 2 8
Sir John Gains (3) 14 4 5 2
Susan Slhipman (3) 13 5 2 8 2

(1) Appointed 19/10/2006, (2) Resigned 20/01/2006 (3) Resigned 1/12/06
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Information and Professional Development

All directors who were appointed on 1 December 2006 were nvited to a two-day induction upon
appomntment and the majority were able to attend The programme included site visits and
presentations by operational management Briefing packs and supplementary notes were circulated to
all those who were absent

The Company Secretary 1s responsible for advising the Board on the majonty of governance issues

However, owing to the nature of the business, certain matters are the responsibility of the Regulation
Department or the Chief Financial Officer All non-executive directors have access to independent
professional advice at the company’s expense where appropriate In accordance with the principles of
the Combined Code, the Company's Articles of Association require that the anpointment and removal
of the Company Secretary 1s a matter for the Board as a whole

Performance Evaluation

The previous Board engaged extemal consultants, Independent Audit Limted, to undertake formal
performance evaluations of the Board and the Audit Commuttee The current Board has undertaken to
carry out an evaluation of 1ts effectiveness within the next 6 to 12 months Further reviews of the
effectiveness of 1ts committees and individual directors, are planned once a sufficient period of time
has elapsed to make this a meaningful exercise, and 1t is anticipated that this will become an annual
process thereafter

Internal Controls

The directors aim to mamtain a sound system of mternal control to safeguard not just shareholders’
investments, but also the Company’s assets and its ability to deliver on 1its obligations to 1ts
stakeholders There 1s a dedicated Internal Audit Department that conducts a wide range of audit and
nisk review functions and reports 1ts findings regularly to the Audit & Risk Review Commuttee which,
In turn, reports on such matters to the Board The Intemal Audit Department also manages the
confidential 'whistleblowing' arrangements that allow individuals to raise matters of concern that they
feel unable to address through normal management channels

In common with other organisations, the internal control system 1s designed to manage, rather than
ehminate, the risk of failure to meet business objectives and can only provide reasonable, not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss Subject to the GSS 1ssues discussed on
page 7 of the OFR, systems that accord with the Financial Reporting Council's gmidance on Internat
Control are considered to have been 1n place for the entire period under review and up to the date of
approval of the Annual Report & Accounts

The Board, assisted by the Audit & Risk Review and Regulatory commuttees, conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the Company's system of intemal controls during the period February - May 2007
This review covered all matenal controls, including financial, operational and comphance controls
and nisk management systems The Audit & Risk Review Commuittee receives regular reports on
internal controls and risk management The Board reviews the proceedings of the Audit & Risk
Review Commattee, aims to conduct additional risk management reviews on a routine basis and to
organise periodic presentations by senior management
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Remuneration Committee and Compensation & HR Committees

Prior to 1 December 2006, the Remuneration Committee compnised exclusively independent non-
executive directors It was chaired by Sue Shpman and the other members were Colette Bowe and Sir
John Gains, alt three of whom served throughout the period until their resignations on 1 December
2006  On 1 December 2006, owing to the change in ownership, a new Compensation & HR
Commuttee was established which broadly functions as both a remuneration and a nomunation
committee It comprises four non-executive directors, one of whom 1s independent, and 1s chaired by
Martin Stanley The other members are Willem Smit (independent non-executive director), Sir Peter
Mason and Christopher Deacon

The commttees’ responsibilities include, but are not limited to, making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s executive remuneration policy and directors' terms of appointment  Dunng the
pertod, both commttees advised the Board of Directors and received advice and mput from various
directors and specialist staff within the Company, including the Chief Executive Officer and the
Director of Human Resources (both of whom are invited to attend from time to time) No individuals
are involved in the determination of their own remuneration

To ensure that the Company’s remuneration practices are market competitive, use 15 made of detailed
external research on market data and trends from expenienced specialist remuneration consultants
The commuittees have received material advice from Watson Wyatt, Hewitts, CJW Consulting and
Hay Management Consultants during the period Where remuneration advisers undertake significant
work for the Company outside the area of executive remuneration, the terms of engagement would be
vetted by the Commuttee and approved by the Board

Remuneration Policy

During the period the commuttees based their decision making on a number of underlying principles
which can be summarised as being that, in respect of remuneration

= arrangements should attract, retain, motivate and reward high calibre directors and executives

= packages should be aligned with the interests of the Company's stakeholders, in particular its
shareholder and 1ts customers

= packages should be commensurate with those provided by other companies of similar size and
complexity, taking mnto account individual contribution and experience

= policy should establish firm links between an executive’s performance and remuneration and
between the Company’s performance and the executive’s total remuneration

The Commuttee will continue to regularly review arrangements to ensure that they remain effective
and appropnate to the Company’s circumstances and prospects, and to monitor the level of potential
awards

Directors’ emoluments.

A fixed fee of £35,000 per annum 1s payable by Thames Water Ltd in respect of the services rendered
by each of M Baggs, C Deacon, P Dyer, R Gregor, C Lynam, G Matthews, A Santos, M Stanley and L
Webb to ten separate Boards of Pirectors within the Kemble Water group of companies, including the
Company It 1s not practicable to apportion this remuneration between the different group companies
No additional remuneration 1s payable 1n respect of any Alternate Directors
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The following table provides a breakdown of the amounts attributable to the Company in respect of
directors who served during the period ending 31 March 2007

Basic Bonuses Benefits Compensation  Period End Year End
salary/fees in kind for loss 31 March 31 December
of office 2007 2005
£°000 £7000 £7000 £°000 £000 £'000
Executive Directors
Craig Anderson (1) - - - - - 202
Richard Aylard (3)(8) 579 44 1 309 - 132.9 617
Simon Batey (2)(3)(8) 48 4 240 217 - 94.1 -
Werner Bottcher (4)(8) 173 - 61 - 234 4570
Steven Buck (3) 168 7 - 436 2440 456.3 1703
Jeremy England (3) 1556 1387 830 1872 564.5 2169
Jeremy Pelczer (3)(8) 124 1 - 190 4 - 3145 -
John Sexton (1) - - - - - 4677
Stephen Walker (3)(8) 48 2 366 222 - 107.0 752
Non-executive Directors (fees and expenses)
Sir Peter Mason (5)(8) 250 - - - 25,0 -
Peter Antolik (5) 117 - - - 11.7 -
Independent Non-executive Directors (fees and expenses)
Colette Bowe (3)(7) 592 - - - 59.2 425
Stephen Box (5)(7) 150 - - - 15.0 -
Sir John Gains (3) 916 - - - 91.6 233
Michael Pavia (5) 117 - - - 11.7 -
Willemn Smt (5) 117 - - - 1.7 -
Sue Slipman {3) 792 - - - 79.2 325
Peter Warry (6) - - - - - 17
Total 925.3 243.4 397.9 431.2 1,997.8 1,569.0

(1) Resigned 31/01/2005 (2) Appointed 19/10/06 (3) Resigned 01/12/2006 (4) Resigned 20/01/2006
(5) Appointed 01/12/2006 (6} Resigned 21/01/2005 (7) Receives an extra £10,000 per annum as
Charman of the Audit & Risk Review Commitiee (8) Represents the portion of services directly
attributable to the Company's business

The highest paid director was Jeremy England The highest pard director in December 2005 was Werner
Bottcher

Basic Salary

Certain directors as mdicated by note 8 1n the table above were employed and remunerated by Thames
Water Limited and performed a wider role within the Group For this reason, the emoluments shown
above reflect only the portion of their services that 1s directly attributable to the Company's business
and the sums quoted represent only a portion of their total earnings (Their remuneration 1s reported
m the Report and Accounts of Thames Water Limited ) Details of options and cash awards received
from RWE AG on pages 41 to 44 reflect the total awards made

The base annual fee for Colette Bowe, Sue Shpman and Sir John Gams was £35,000 In view of the
additional work created by the divestment of Thames Water from the RWE Group, they all received
additional fees for the period 1 April 2006 to 30 November 2006 Sue Shpman and Sir John Gains
also recerved a payment 1n respect of the balance of their contractual periods as at the date of their
resignations
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The non-executive fees shown above will not be paid to Peter Antolik but will instead be paid to the
entities who have jointly nominated him, which include the manager of Macquane’s European
Infrastructure Funds Peter Antolik 1s employed by Macquanie Bank Limited (London branch) and 1s
remunerated by Macquarie Bank Limited n relation to his role as Head of Regulation for the
Macquane European Infrastructure Funds managed by Macquane In this role he provides services to
Macquarie Bank’s advisory division, the Macquarie European Infrastructure Funds and to certain
entities i which those funds have mvested including Thames Water Utliies Limited, Wales and
West Utihities and MGN Gas Networks It 1s not possible to reliably allocate lis total remuneration
from Macquarie Bank Limited between that awarded for services as Intenm Director of Regulation
and Strategy to the Company and the other services provided

The basic salary for each executive director who served throughout the period was reviewed annually,
taking 1into account market data from relevant comparaters {mamly utility companies) and the relaiive
experience of each individual A mud-market position was targeted once an individual was fully
established 1n the role The fees of the non-executive directors are reviewed every two years and are
determined by the Board taking into account the responsibilities, time commitments and fee levels in
comparable companies

Details of Directors Service Contracts for the period are contained below
Annual Bonus

Non-executive directors are not, and have never been, eligible to participate in the Company's bonus
arrangements Senior executives - including any executive directors - are eligible to participate 1n an
annual bonus scheme, which 1s designed to motivate them to achmeve the Company’s key operational
and strategic objectives

The 2006 annual bonus plan aimed to reward significant improvement 1n the Company’s performance,
both financial and regulatory, and an executive's personal contribution to that performance and
payment was due in March 2007 However, under the rules of the plan, the Board reserved the nght
to reduce the overall award where financial or individual performance was judged to be such that an
award should not be tnggered In February 2007, the Board of Directors exercised this nght and, as a
result, no discretionary bonus payments were made to the directors, senior executives, senior or
middle management team

For 2007, the bonus plan will be based on the achievement of financial and personal performance
targets Financial measures will be selected from operational costs, capital expenditure, cash flow and
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation targets The personal element of the
annual bonus 1s underpinned by pre-determined Company financial targets, which must be achieved
before the personal element of bonus is paid

Long Term Incentive Plans ("LTIPs")

As an element of the retention strategy, the Company’s directors and senior management team,
including any executive directors, are from time to time invited to participate 1n LTIPs. There 1s no
automatic night to participate and each year executives and managers are selected at the discretion of
the Board
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Under the 2003 LTIP, executives were awarded nghts to acquire shares n RWE AG (“RWE”)
Conditional awards of shares were granted based on performance agamst financial measures in 2003
The shares were deferred for a 28 month penod and vested in July 2006, provided that the executives
were still employed within the Thames Water Group on the vesting date  Awards to Directors under
the 2003 LTIP that vested i July 2006 are summarised below NB These are the total awards
made, with no apportionment in respect of services provided to the Group and/or the Company

Number of RWE Shares vesting

Richard Aylard 768
Steven Buck 395
Jeremy England 373
Stephen Walker 1,317

The 2004 LTIP followed the same structure as the 2003 LTIP When the divestment of Thames
Water from the RWE Group completed, participants had a two-week window m which they could
elect to convert their conditional awards of shares mnto conditional awards of cash on an irevocable
basis The 2004 LTIP vests at the end of July 2007 and the following table summanses the awards
made to Directors

Conditional RWE Shares Conditional Cash Award
Award
Richard Aylard £118,714
Jeremy England 976
Stephen Walker £123,175

During the period Jeremy Pelczer participated n an alternative LTIP the RWE Stock Appreciation
Rights Plan (SAR Plan) The Plan awarded stock appreciation nghts n RWE  The Plan was operated
by Thames Water Group’s previous ultimate parent company, RWE and lay outside the role of the
Remuneration and Compensation & HR commuttees The Plan was based on RWE’s absolute and
relative share price performance and any gain was subject to a cap of 50% of the original exercise
price  Final payment was made 1n cash. The 2004 SAR Plan vested n June 2006 and the cash
payments listed below were made to directors and former directors

Number of Stock Appreciation Cash Value
Rights
Jeremy Pelczer 50,000 £609,279

In 2005, RWE mtroduced a new cash LTIP called “Beat” 2005 Under this LTIP, executives were
awarded a number of phantom or “RWE Performance™ shares At the end of the three-year
performance period, the value of each RWE Performance Share was to be determined based on
RWE’s relative total shareholder return performance against a comparator group of European Utihity
companies which form the DJ Stoxx Utiities Index Under the rules of the Plan, awards of
performance shares lapsed when the divestment of Thames Water from the RWE Group was
completed and a compensation payment was payable equivalent to the individual grant value, pro-
rated for service during the performance period The cash payments made to the directors are
summarised below

Cash Payment
Richard Aylard £40,193
Jeremy England £35,274
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At the discretion of the RWE Board, Stephen Walker and Steven Buck retained their entitlements to
participate 1n the 2005 Beat Scheme These vest in Q1 2008 and therr original share awards are given
below Jeremy Pelezer's award under the 2005 LTIP lapsed

“RWE Performance” Shares
Steven Buck 2,200
Stephen Walker 6,000

In 2006, the Thames Water group introduced an LTIP under which awards were made to executives
and semor managers Each award took the form of a conditional right to receive a specified number
of *cash unmits” Under the rules of the plan, the conditional awards vested on completion of the
divestment of the Thames Water group from the RWE group A cash payment, pro-rated to reflect
completed service during the performance period was made to directors in December 2006 and 1s
summarised below

Cash Award
Richard Aylard £19,250
Steven Buck £15,130
Jeremy England £15,360
Stephen Walker £19,940

Jeremy Pelczer did not participate 1n the 2006 LTIP

As a result of new ownership, a new LTIP was introduced in May 2007 Under the new plan, a
conditional award of cash units will be made to participants The awards will be deferred for a two-
year period, after which payment will be made, depending on an assessment of performance against
regulatory targets 100%-400% of the deferred cash award will vest based on performance against the
“Overall Performance Assessment” score, independently assessed by Ofwat

Interest in shares and share options

Prior to the divestment of Thames Water from RWE, all employees and executives were eligible to
participate in the RWE Thames Water Share Investment Plan (SIP) This was a conventional HMRC
approved share incentive plan 1in which individuals could contribute (out of pre-tax salary) an amount
of up to £125 per month This money was used by the Trustee of the SIP to acquire RWE shares on
the individual’s behalf (“Partnership Shares”) In addition, the Company provided funds to the
Trustee to enable 1t to acquire free “Matching Shares™ for individuals on the basis of one Matching
Share for every four Partnershup Shares acquired (but doing so only in relation to the first £30 per
month of an individual’s contributions ) The scheme was closed on | December 2006 when Thames
Water was divested from RWE and participants can retain the shares already purchased within the
Trust for a five-year period to enable them to recerve their shares free of income tax

Number of Partnership Shares Number of Matching Shares

at 1 December 2006 at 1 December 2006
Jeremy England 48 2
Stephen Walker 41 )
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Pension Benefits

Details of accrued pension benefit values for Executive Directors* who served durning the period
ended 31 March 2007 are as follows

Period End Year End

31 March 2007 31 March 2006

£ £

Richard Aylard (1) £12,207 81 £8,017 86
Steven Buck (1) £13,73979 £8,604 52
Jeremy England (1) £19,789 11 £17,013 33
Jeremy Pelczer (1) £31,667 01 £25,670 68
Stephen Walker (1) £39,041 16 £33,981 94

(1) Resigned 01/12/2006
* Simon Batey received a cash allowance of £16,936
Other Benefits

The executive directors during the penod received a car or cash allowance, private medical insurance,
a defined benefit pension scheme* and life assurance and 30 days holhiday These benefits were
reviewed peniodically to ensure that the overall remuneration package was competitive aganst
companies of a similar size and complexity

* Simon Batey received a cash allowance 1n heu of membership of the defined benefit pension
scheme

Service Contracts

Reflecting current market practice, the Executive Directors who resigned on 1 December 2006 had
service contracts that were terminable on one year’s notice by either the individual or the Company,
with the exception of Simon Batey whose notice period 1s described 1n the table below Details of
their compensation for loss of office are included on page 40 Dawvid Owens (Chief Executive
Officer), Steve Shine (Chief Operating Officer) and Simon Batey (Chief Financial Officer) were
apponted as Executive Directors on 24 May 2007 With the exception of Simon Batey, none of these
appointees holds a service contract that provides for a notice period longer than one year It 1s not the
Commuttee’s intention to recommend the appointment of any new Executive Directors with contracts
that provide for a longer notice period

The Commuttee endorses the principle of mitigation of loss of early termination of a service contract
and generally seeks to achieve that objective, where possible and appropriate  In the event that the
Company wished to termunate an Executive Director’s contract other than in circumstances where the
Company 1s entitled to summarnly dismuss an Executive Director, 1t would need to give either 12
months’ notice or make a payment n heu of salary and benefits The table overleaf prowvides the
dates, terms and notice periods of the service contracts for Directors who served dunng the penod
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Commencement date of Date of 1muitial appointment Notice penod (if
current term of office with the Company applicable)

(1f applicable)
Richard Aylard (1) 21/01/2005 n/a 12 months
Simon Batey (1) 19/10/2006 19/10/2006 24 months (reducing
on a sliding scale to 12
months by 01/08/07)
Steven Buck (1) 01/02/2005 n‘a 12 months
Jeremy England (1) 07/06/2004 n/a 12 months
Jeremy Pelczer (1) 17/11/2005 n/a 12 months
Stephen Walker (1) 20/09/2001 n‘a 12 months
Peter Antolik 01/12/2006 n/a (3)
Martin Baggs 01/12/2006 n/a (3)
Colette Bowe (1) 03/07/2001 n/a 12 months (2)
Stephen Box 01/12/2006 n/a {3)
Christopher Deacon 01/12/2006 n/a (3)
Dr Peter Dyer 01/12/2006 n/a {3)
Sir John Gains (1) 01/04/2005 n/a 12 months
Robert Gregor 01/12/2006 n/a {3)
Charles Lynam 01/12/2006 n/a ()
Sir Peter Mason 01/12/2006 n/a 3 months
Graham Matthews 01/12/2006 n/a (3
Michael Pavia (2) 01/12/2006 n/a 12 months (2)
Antonio Santos 01/12/2006 nfa (3)
Susan Slipman (1) 01/01/2002 n/a 12 months
Willem Snut 01/12/2006 n/a 12 months (2)
Martin Stanley 01/12/2006 n/a (3)
Lincoln Webb 01/12/2006 n/a (4)

(1) Resigned 01/12/2006 (2) Imtal appomtment for 12 months, subject to renewal for a further period of two
years (3) Notice period 1s undetermined as governed by the appomnting investor (4) Appointed for an imtal
fixed term of a year

Directors’ retirement dates are determuned by reference to the Trust Deeds of the Company’s Pension
Schemes as amended from time to time

Policy on outside directorships

David Owens (Chief Executive Officer), Steve Shine (Chief Operating Officer) and Simon Batey
(Chief Financial Officer) were appointed as Executive Directors on 24 May 2007 The Compensation
& HR committee will consider the appropnate policy on outside directorships and make
recommendations to the Board of Directors

Approved by the Board on 28 June 2007 and signed on 1ts behalf by

C Deacon
Director and Member of the Compensation & HR Committee
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the period 1 January 2006 to
31 March 2007 These are the Company's statutory accounts as required to be delivered to the
Registrar of Companies

The Company's accounting reference date was extended to 31 March 2007 in order to coincide with
Kemble Water Limited, its new owner As a result, this report and the financial statements covera 15
month period and financial and related information linked to the period may not, therefore, be directly
comparable with the figures for the previous financial year ended 31 December 2005

On 21 June 2007 the ownership of the Company was transferred from Thames Water Holdings
Limited to Thames Water Utilities Holdings Limited, a new intermediate holding company, wholly
owned by Thames Water Limited '

Principal activities and likely future developments

The prnincipal activities of the Company are the supply of water and the collection and treatment of
sewage, serving approximately 13 million customers in London and the Thames Valley

The information which comphes with the Business Review requirements of the Companies Act 1985
can be found within the voluntary Operating and Financial Review ("OFR") on pages 4 t0 33 The
Company chose to produce a voluntary OFR on the basis that this reflects best practice in corporate
reporting and, in doing so, 1t looked to the 'Reporting Statement of Best Practice on the OFR' 1ssued
by the Accounting Standards Board on 26 January 2006 as the best guidance currently available The
OFR compnses an analysis of the development and performance of the business and includes an
assessment of future prospects, information about research and development activities, details of
important events that have occurred since 31 March 2007 and Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs")

Details of parent and subsidiary undertakings are given 1n note 25 and note 11 to the Fmancial
statements on page 89 and 74 respectively, and the Company has no branches outside the United
Kingdom

Results and dividends

The profit and loss account on page 53 gives the Company's financial results for the period

The Company paid interim dividends totalling £656 3 miilion during the period (2005 £1550
rmlhion) The Board does not recommend a final dividend

Directors

Following the acquisition by Kemble Water Limited on 1 December 2006, all the Directors serving at
that time, whose details are included in the first table below, relinquished their appointments With
the exception of Simon Batey, who was appointed to the Board on 19 October 2006, and Werner
Bottcher, who resigned on 20 January 2006, all directors served throughout the peniod 1 January 2006
- 1 December 2006 inclusive
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Directors Serving Between 1 January 2006 and 1 December 2006 1nclusive

J D Pelczer - Chairman

C Bowe (independent NED3)

R Aylard

S G Batey (appointed 19 October 2006)
W U Bottcher (resigned 20 January 2006)
S J Buck

J M England

Sir John Gains (independent NED)

S Slipman (independent NFD)

S C A Walker

Subsequent to 1 December 2006, Richard Aylard, Simon Batey and Steve Walker remained wath the
Company 1n executive capacities Simon Batey continued to serve as Chief Financial Officer and was
reappomnted to the Board on 24 May 2007 (see below)

Details of the directors who served from 1 December 2006 to the date of this report are shown n the
following table The constitution of the Board 15 covered in more detail 1n the Corporate Governance
Statement, which can be found on pages 34 to 38

All Board members from 1 December 2006 to 23 May 2007 inclusive were non-executive directors
("NEDs") throughout the penod, with the exception of Peter Antolik who took on interim executive
duties as from 1 February 2007 On 23 May 2007, Charles Lynam and Peter Dyer both tendered their
resignations On 24 May 2007, three new executive directors were appointed, namely David Owens
(Chief Executive Officer), Simon Batey (Chief Financial Officer) and Steve Shine (Chief Operating
Officer) Three of the NEDs have nominated Alternate Directors to represent them when they are
unavallable These are P E D Crone (Alternate to G J Matthews), R D Israel (Altermate to C R
Deacon unt1l 28 June 2008) and J Santos (Alternate to A P Santos)

Directors Serving from | December 2006 to the date of this report

Sir Peter Mason, KBE - Chairman

P S Antolik

M W Baggs

S G Batey (reappointed 24 May 2007)
S J Box (independent NED)

C R Deacon

Dr P Dyer (resigned 23 May 2007)

R J Gregor

C Lynam (resigned 23 May 2007)

G J Matthews

D W Owens (appointed 24 May 2007)
M Pavia (independent NED)

A P Santos

S F Shine (appointed 24 May 2007)
W Smut (independent NED)

M S W Stanley

L. Webb
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Material financial instruments

Financial risk management 1s covered on pages 24 to 25 of the OFR
Employee involvement

Operational and financial performance information 1s available to all employees, through briefings by
the Chuef Executive Officer ("CEO"), Company-wide emails and team briefings

Methods of communication with employees vary dependent on the subject matter Company-wide
announcements, changes to Company policy and business updates are disseminated to all employees
and the CEO and his Executive Management Team ("EMT") undertake regular face to face briefings
for managers and employees

Consultation with non-management employees 1s undertaken 1n partnership with the recognised Trade
Unions ("TUs") Consultation with management level employees typically takes place on an
individual basis, except in the case of changes that affect whole areas of the business In these
circumstances, consultation would take place on a group basis with employee representatives being
elected for the relevant area

Although share incentive plans existed duning the period 1n question, following the divestment from
RWE AG (which was a publicly traded company) it was no longer practicable to offer share based
ncentives to employees

Employment of disabled persons

The Company 15 commutted to fulfilling 1ts oblhigations 1n accordance with the Disability
Discnmination Act 1995 The Company has policies and procedures 1n place that aim to ensure that
both job applicants and employees with disabilities have equality of opportunity, are treated fairly and
have a safe and practical workplace, free from discrimination, bullying, harassment or victimisation

Through disability and attendance management policies, support and traming 1s provided for
employees who become disabled during the course of their employment so that they continue to work
1n a position appropriate to their expertence and abihities

Directors' interests

Throughout the period, none of the directors declared any interest in the shares or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate in the Group In accordance with Statutory Instrument
1985/802, mterests in shares of RWE AG (the ultimate holding company until 1 December 2006) are
not required to be disclosed

Policy and practice on payment of creditors

The Company's policy 1s to pay all suppliers, contractors and service providers according to pre-

agreed terms During the period under review the average amount due to trade creditors represented
68 days (2005 64 days) purchases received from these creditors
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Political and charitable donations and expenditure

No chantable or political donations were made by the Company during the period other than donations
totalling £159,026 made out of the Company's Customer Assistance Fund, thereby helping customers
who were unable to pay their bills owmng to financial difficulty, hardship or distress  These costs are
charged to the Profit and Loss Account

Going concern

The directors have adopted the going concern basis 1n preparing these financial statements This 1s
based upon a review of the group’s budget, business plan and mvestment programme, together with
the cash and committed borrowing facihities available The board also took into account potential
contingent liabilities and other risk factors as mterpreted by the ‘Guidance on Going Concern and
Financial Reporting for Directors of Listed Companies registered in the United Kingdom’, published
in November 1994

Post balance sheet events

On 24 May 2007 the Company transferred its mterests m County Wide Collections Limited, Thames
Water Procurement Services Limited, Thames Water Dramage Services Limited and Gemwel Limited
to Thames Water Limited On 21 June 2007 the ownership of the Company was transferred from
Thames Water Holdings Limited to Thames Water Utilities Holdings Limited, a new intermediate
holding company, wholly owned by Thames Water Limited On 28 June 2007 the Company acquired
a new financing undertaking, Thames Water Utiliies Cayman Finance Limited

On 28 June 2007, the Company executed deeds of mdemnity for the benefit of each director of the
Company These provisions are qualifying third party indemmity provisions as defined by s 309B of
the Compamnies Act 1985

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements 1n
accordance with applicable law and accounting standards, which n the case of these accounts 1s
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("UK GAAP")

In the case of UK GAAP accounts, the directors are responsible for preparmg financial statements for
each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
profit or loss of the Company for that period In preparing these financial statements, the directors are
required to

+  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
»  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

»  state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explamed in the financial statements, and

»  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropmate to presume
that the Company will continue 1n business

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985 They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other wregulanties
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Directors’ report (continued)

The directors are responstble for the maintenance and integnity of the corporate and financial
mformation included on the company’s website Legislation in the United Kingdom goverming the
preparation and dissemmnation of financial statements may differ from legislation 1 other
junsdictions

Disclosure of information to auditors

So far as they are aware, the directors at the date of this report confirm that there 1s no relevant audit
mformation of which the Company's auditors are¢ unaware, and that the directors have taken all the
steps that they ought to have taken as directors m order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information

Auditors

A resolution to reappomt PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company's auditors will be proposed at
the Annual General Meeting

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2007 and signed on 1ts behalf by

David Owens
Chief Executive Officer
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Thames Water Utilities
Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Thames Water Utihties Limited for the 15 month period
ended 31 March 2007 which compnse the primary financial statements, such as the Profit and Loss
Account, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Statement of Total Recognised Gans and
Losses and the related notes These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out theremn

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibihities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements m
accordance with applicable law and Umted Kingdom Accounting Standards (Umted Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility 1s to audst the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) This report, including the
opmion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Section 235 of the Compames Act 1985 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving this opimon,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s
shown or into whose hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 1n writing

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements grve a true and fair view and are
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 We also report to you whether m our
opimon the mformation given in the Directors' Report is consistent with the financial statements The
information given m the Directors’ Report ncludes that specific information presented in the
Operating and Financial Review that 1s cross referred from the Business Review section of the
Directors’ Report

In addition we report to you 1f, 1n our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, 1f
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read other information contamned 1n the Annual Report, and consider whether 1t 1s consistent with
the audited financial statements This other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the
Operating and Financial Review and the Corporate Governance Statement We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements Our responsibilittes do not extend to any other
mformation

We also, at the request of the directors (because the company applhes the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority as 1f 1t were a listed company), review whether the Corporate
Governance Statement reflects the company's compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined
Code 2003 specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we
report 1f 1t does not We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on mternal
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s
corporate governance procedures or 1ts risk and control procedures

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures n the financial statements It also includes an assessment of
the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are approprniate to the company’s circumstances,
consistently apphed and adequately disclosed
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Thames Water Utilities
Limited (continued)

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtam all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary 1n order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that
the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other

uregulanty or error In forming our opmion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information n the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion

s the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2007 and of

1ts profit and cash flows for the 15 month period then ended,

¢ the financial statements have been properly prepared 1n accordance with the Companies Act 1985,
and

¢ the information given in the Directors' Report 1s consistent with the financial statements
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Reading

28 June 2007
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Profit and loss account for the period ended 31 March 2007

Turnover
Operating costs

Operating profit

Profit on sale of fixed assets

Net interest payable and sumular charges

Onber finance meome

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities
Profit for the period

Dividends

Defiat/retained profit for the period

All amounts above relate to continuing operations

Period end

31 March

Note 2007

£m

1,778 1

4 (1,249.7)

5284

5 12.1

7 (205.7)

7.3

342.1

8 (101.5)

240.6

9 {656.3)
20 & 21 415.

Year end

31 December
2005

fm

1,3335

(883 9)

4496
91

(1429)

69

3227

(943)
2284

(155 0)

734

There 1s no difference between the profit on ordinary activities before taxation for the penods stated above

and therr historical cost equivalents

Statement of total recognised gains and losses

Profit for the period
Actuarial gam on pension scheme (note 24)
Deferred tax relating to actuanal gamn

Total recognised gains for the period

Prior year adjustment in respect of a change
accounting policy - Pensions (FRS 17)

Total gains recognised since last report
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Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £fm
240.6 2284
81.2 349
(24.4) (10 5)
297.4 252 8
- {74 2)
297.4 178 6




Thames Water Utilities Limited

Balance sheet at 31 March 2007

Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments
Current assets

Stocks and work in progress
Debtors

T

ga:lfzt -t;a:k and wn hand

Creditors: amounts faling due within one year

Net current lrabihities

Total assets less current habihies

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Provisions for liabhties and charges

Net assets excluding pension asset/(liability)

Net pension asset/(hability)

Net assets including pension asset/(liability)

Capital and reserves

Called-up share capital
Share premmum

Profit and loss reserve

Equity shareholder's funds

The notes on pages 56 to 89 form part of these financial statements

Note

10
11

14

17

24

18
19
20

21

Penod end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
5,900.4 5,446 7
0.1 01
5,900.5 5,446 8
6.1 62
444.6 466 4
1128 -
89.4 163
052.6 4829
(730.9) (864 8)
{78.3) (3819)
5,822.2 5,064 9
(3.585.3) (24352)
(916.6) (887 5)
1,3203 1,7422
11.1 (519)
1,331.4 1,690 3
1,029.0 1,029 0
100.0 1000
2024 5613
1,331.4 1,6903

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2007 and signed on 1ts behalf

by

i r
Simon Batey
Chief Financial Officer
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Thames Water Ultilities Limited

Cash flow statement for the period ended 31 March 2007

Note

Net cash inflow from operating activities (a)

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest recerved

Interest paid

Interest element i finance lease payments

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing
of finance

Taxation

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Gross cost of purchased fixed assets
Infrastructure renewals expenditure

Receipt of grants and coniributions

Sale proceeds of fixed assets

Net cash outflow for capital expenditure and financial investment
Equity dividends paid

Management of hquid resources
Increase n short term deposits

Net cash outflow before financing

Financing
Capital element 1n finance lease payments
New loans

Repayment of loans

Net cash inflow from financing ) &(c)

Increase in cash (b)&(c)
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Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £fm
863.4 7812
209 -
(181.9) (1252)
(13.7) (134)
(174.7) (138 6)
(81.4) (48 8)
(719.3) (488 7)
(135.0) (494)
70.2 631
20.5 91
(763.6) (4659)
(656.3) (1550)
(112.5) -
(925.1) (271)
(9.8) EYH
1,200 0 7370
(186.0) (693 0}
1,004.2 359
79.1 38




Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the cash flow statement for the period ended 31 March 2007

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities

Note
Operating profit
Assets written off
Depreciation (infrastructure) 4
Depreciation (non-infrastructure) 4

Dnfference between pension charge and cash contributions
Decrease/(Increase) n stocks and work in progress
Decrease/(increase) in debtors and prepaid expenses
(Decrease)/Increase in credutors and accrued expenses
Release of deferred mcome

Net cash inflow from operating activities

{b) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Note

Increase 1n cash n the peniod

Cash inflow from ncrease in liquid resources

Cash inflow from movement 1n net debt and financing
Increase m net debt resulting from cashflows
Non-cash mcrease in net debt

Total increase 1n net debt

Opentng net debt

Closing net debt ©

Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005

£m £fm

528.4 4496

2.0 -

131.1 860

2734 2076

(1.6) 111

0.1 (03

28.2 (46 2)

917 841
(13.5) (107)

863.4 7812
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005

£m £m

79.1 88
112.5 -
(1,004.2) {359)
(812.6) 271)
(25.3) 57
(837.9) (328)
(2,398.2) (2,365 4)
(3,236.1) (2,398 )

Non-cash changes compnse the carrying value uphft by RPI, of an RPI index-linked bond This
adjustment 1s 1n accordance with FRS 4 ‘Capital instruments’, which requires the carrying value of

such mdex-linked loans to be recalculated at each balance sheet date
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the cash flow statement for the period ended 31 March 2007
(continued)

{c) Analysis of net debt
As at As at
1Jan 06 Cashflow Non-cash 31 Mar 07
£m £fm fm £m
Cash at bank and 1n hand 103 791 - 894
Short term deposits - 1t25 - 112.5
103 1916 - 201.9
Debt due wathin 1 year (114 6) 1052 - 9.4)
Denbt due afier 1 year (2,068 3) (1,119 2) (233 (3,213.0)
Finance leases (225 4) 98 - (215.6)
(2,408 5) (1,004 2) (253) (3,438.0)
{2,398 2) (812 6) (253) (3,236.1)
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Thames Water Utilities Limited
Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007

1 Principal accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis and 1n accordance with the historical
cost convention and with applicable accouniing standards 1n the UK and, except for the treatment of
certain capital contributions, with the Companies Act 1985 An explanation of this departure from the
requirements of the Act 1s given below

In accordance with the requirements of FRS 18, the directors review the Company’s accounting policies
to ensure that they remain the most appropnate to 1ts particular circumstances for the purpose of giving a
true and fair view

The Company has not prepared consolidated group financial statements, as permitted under section
228 of the Compames Act 1985 The Company and 1ts subsidianes are included in the consohidated
accounts of 1ts parent company Kemble Water Holdings Limited, a Company registered in the United
Kingdom

The Company's accounting reference date was extended to 31 March 2007 1 order to comcide with
Kemble Water Limited, 1ts new owner As a result, this report and the financial statements cover a 15
month period and financial and related information linked to the period may not, therefore, be directly
comparable with the figures for the previous financial year ended 31 December 2005

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out
below These policies are consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated

{a) Revenue Recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of the income receivable 1n the ordinary course of business for
goods and services provided and 1s recogmised 1 accordance with FRS 5 ‘Reporting the Substance of
Transactions” Where relevant, this includes an estimate of the sales value of water supplied to
customers between the date of the last meter reading and the period end together with unbilled waste
water charges, exclusive of value added tax

The Company recogmses revenue generally at the time of delivery and when collection of the
resulting receivable 1s reasonably assured Should the Company consider that the cntenia for revenue
recognition are not met for a transaction, revenue recognition would be delayed until such time as the
transaction becomes fully earned Payments received in advance of delivery are recorded as deferred
revenue

(b) Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets comprise infrastructure assets (mains, sewers and pumped raw water storage
reservorrs and sludge pipelines), and other assets (including land, buildings, properties, overground

plant and equipment)

Dhrectly attributable costs, including employee costs, incurred 1n implementing the capital programme
of the Company are capitalised within fixed assets
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007

(b)

Principal accounting policies (continued)
Tangible fixed assets (continued)
Infrastructure assets

Infrastructure assets comprise a network of systems In the UK water regulated business, all
expenditure on infrastructure assets 1s capitalised at cost, whilst the planned element incurred
In maintaining the operating capability of the network m accordance with defined service
standards 1s expensed as depreciation

Other assets

All other assets, comprising plant and equipment and land and buldings, are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation

Cost includes expenditure that 1s directly attributable to the acquisition of the items
Subsequent costs are included 1n the asset’s carrymg amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropnate, only when 1t 15 probable that future economic benefits associated with the 1tem
will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the profit and loss account during the period 1n which they
are incurred

Freehold land 1s not depreciated and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated
until they are commissioned Other assets are depreciated by writing off their cost less therr
estimated residual value evenly over their estimated useful lives, based on management’s
judgement and experience, which are principally as follows

Buildings 20 - 80 years

Operational structures 40 - 80 years

Other 20 - 60 years

Fixtures, fittings, vehicles and computers 3 - 10 years
Fixed and mobile plant 20 - 40 years

Depreciation methods, restdual values and useful hves are re-assessed annually and, if
necessary, changes are accounted for prospectively

The gamn or loss ansing on the disposal or retirement of an asset 1s deterrmned as the

difference between the sales proceeds and the carrymg amount of the asset and 1s recognised
In Incoime
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007
1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(c) Impairment of tangible assets excluding goodwill

Fixed assets are assessed for impairment whenever there 1s an indicator of impairment to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets may have suffered an impairment loss If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 15 estimated 1n order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, 1f any Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from
other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell, and value 1n use Value in use
represents the net present value ot expected tuture cash tlows discounted on a pre-tax basis using a
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the nisks specific to the
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s estimated to be less than 1ts carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating umit) 1s reduced to 1ts recoverable
amount Impairment of non-current assets is recognised 1n the profit and loss account within operating
costs

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 1t 1s recognised n the profit and loss account and
the carrying amount of the asset 15 increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but not
so as to exceed the carrymg amount that would have been determined had no imparrment loss been
recognised 1n prior years

(d) Capital contributions

Capital contributions received n respect of infrastructure assets have been deducted from the cost of
fixed assets This 1s not 1n accordance with Schedule 4 to the Companies Act 1985 that requires fixed
assets to be stated at their purchase price without deduction of contributions, which are accordingly
accounted for as deferred income This departure from the requirement of the Act 1s, in the opmmion of
the Directors, necessary for the financial statements to give a true and fair view because infrastructure
assets do not have a determinable finite hife Accordingly, related capital contributions would not be
recogmsed 1n the profit and loss account

Where maternial, contributions recerved towards the cost of other assets are accounted for as deferred
income and released to the profit and loss account over the estimated economuc lives of the assets

(e) Stocks, work in progress

Stock and work 1n progress, with the exception of long-term contracts, are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value Cost comprises direct matenals and, where apphcable, direct labour costs
and those overheads that have been incurred 1in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition Cost 1s calculated using the weighted average method Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007
1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

43 Long-term contracts

Long-term contracts are included in the profit and loss account by recording turnover and related
costs as contract activity progresses Profit atiributable to turnover to date 1s included where the
outcome of the contract can be foreseen with reasonable certainty Full provision 1s made for losses
on unprofitable contracts

Long-term contract work n progress 1s stated at net cost less foresceable losses and progress
payments received and receivable The amount by which turnover 18 in excess of payments on
account 1s separately disclosed within debtors as amounts recoverable on contracts Progress
payments received 1n excess of costs less foreseeable losses are disclosed i creditors Where
foreseeable losses exceed net costs, the excess 1s disclosed 1n provisions for hiabilities and charges

Pre-contract costs are expensed as icurred, except where 1t 1s virtually certain that the contract will
be awarded, 1n which case they are recogmsed as an asset and written off to the profit and loss
account over the life of the contract

®) Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax
e Current taxation

Current tax, mcluding UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 1s based on the taxable profit for
the period and 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date

Taxable profit differs from the net profit as reported 1n the profit and loss account because 1t
excludes 1tems of income or expense that are taxable or deductible mm other years and 1t
further excludes 1tems that are never taxable or deductible

¢ Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation 1s recognised 1n respect of all iming differences that have originated but not
reversed at the balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to
pay more tax n the future or a night to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance
sheet date

A net deferred tax asset 1s regarded as recoverable and therefore recogmised only when, on the
basis of all available evidence, 1t can be regarded as more hikely than not that there will be
suitable taxable profits against which to recover carnied forward tax losses and from which the
future reversal of underlying timung differences can be deducted

Deferred taxation 1s measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply 1n the periods
in which the timung differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have
been enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred taxation 1s measured on a non-discounted basis

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss account except when 1t relates to

items charged or credited to equity, in which case the deferred tax 1s also dealt with 1n via
Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses in Equity
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007

1 Principal accounting policies {continued)
(h) Leased assets

Leases are classified according to the substance of the transaction A lease that transfers substantially
all the rnisks and rewards of ownership to the lessee 1s classified as a finance lease All other leases are
classified as operating leases

* Finance leases

Finance leases are capitalised in the balance sheet at their fair value or, 1f lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, each determmed at the mception of the lease

The corresponding hability 1s shown as a finance lease obligation to the lessor Leasing
repayments comprise both a capital and a finance element The finance element 1s wntten off
to the profit and loss account so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of
charge on the outstanding obligation Such assets are depreciated over the shorter of their
estimated useful lives and the period of the lease

s  Operating leases

Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over
the peniod of the lease

0] Pension and other post retirement benefits

The Company operates two sigmficant defined benefit pension schemes, which are independently
admmmistered funds, for the substantial majority of 1ts employees Actuanal valuations of the schemes
are carried out as determined by the pension scheme trustees using the projected urut credit method at
mntervals of not more than three years, the rates of contribution payable and the pension cost bemng
determined on the advice of the actuaries, having regard to the results of these valuations For any
intervening reporting pertod, the actuaries review the continuing appropriateness of the contribution
rates Defined benefit assets are measured at fair value while habihties are measured at present value
{which approximates to fair value)

The difference between the two amounts 1s recogmsed as a surplus or obligation 1n the balance sheet
The cost of providing pension benefits to employees 1s included 1n the profit and loss account within
cost of employee benefits The difference between the expected return on scheme assets and interest
on scheme labilities are included within interest 1n the profit and loss account

Actuarnial gains and losses are recognised outside the profit and loss account n retained earnings and
presented 1 the statement of total recogmsed gains and losses

In addition, the Company also operates defined contribution pension schemes Payments are charged

as employee costs as they fall due The Company has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007
1 Principal accounting policies {continued)
1) Foreign currencies

Transactions 1n foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates ruling on the dates of the
transactions At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated n foreign currencies
are translated into sterling at the relevant rates of exchange ruling on the balance sheet date Gains
and losses arising on retranslation are mncluded in the profit and loss account for the period

(k) Cash

Cash includes cash at bank and 1n hand, deposits, and other short-term highly hquid mvestments
which are readily convertible on 1mitial investment mnto known amounts of cash at any time without
penalty or 1f a maturity or period of notice of not more than 24 hours or one working day has been
agreed

{) Trade receivables

Trade recervables are stated at nomnal value (which approximates to fair value) less allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts

(m) Trade payables

Trade payables are stated at therr nominal value (which approximates to fair value)
(n) Financial liabilities and equity

Fmancial habilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered mto An equity nstrument 1s any contract that evidences a residual interest 1n
the assets of the Company after deducting all of 1ts habulities

Equity mstruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue
costs

¢ Borrowings

Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
1issue costs Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and
direct 1ssue costs, are accounted for on an amortised cost basis to the profit and loss using the
effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent
that they are not settled in the penod in which they anse

« Financial instruments and derivatives

Interest rate swap agreements and financial futures are used to manage interest rate exposure
While the Company enters mto currency swaps to manage 1its exposure to fluctuations 1n
exchange rates, the Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative
purposes

The Company currently does not apply FRS 26 ‘Fmancial Instruments Recognition and

Measurement’, therefore there 1s no fair valuing of derivatives FRS 25 ‘Fiancial
Instruments Presentation’ has been adopted 1n the current penod and prior year
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

(o) Accruals and deferred income

Grants and contributions receivable 1 respect of depreciating fixed assets are treated as deferred
income, which 1s credited to the profit and loss account over the estimated economuc hives of the
related assets

(r) Research and development

Research expenditure 1s recognised as an expense as incurred

(qQ) Provisions

Provisions, except for insurance provisions, are recogmsed when the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, 1t 1s probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated Insurance provisions are
recogmised or released by assessing their adequacy using current estimates of future cashflows under
Insurance contracts

r) Related party disclosures

The company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 3(c) from the provisions of FRS
8 ‘Related party disclosures’, which requires the disclosure of the details of matenal transactions

between the reporting entity and any related parties, on the grounds that 1t 15 a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kemble Water Holdings Limited, a company registered in the Umited Kingdom

(s) Post Balance Sheet Events

In accordance with FRS 21, dividends declared after the period end are not recogmised as a liability at the
balance sheet date

(t) Financial risk management

The Company has an Executive Management Team, which receives regular reports from all areas of the
business to enable prompt 1dentification of financial and other risks so that appropnate actions can be
taken

The Company 1s exposed to commodity prnice nisk, especially energy pnce risk, as a result of its
operations The Company aims to manage 1ts risk by fixing contract prices where possible

The Company’s operations expose 1t to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of changes
debt market prices, price risk, hiquidity nisk, interest rate nsk and exchange rate nsk

The operation of the Treasury function 1s governed by spectfic policies and procedures that set out
specific guidelines for the management of interest rate risk and foreign exchange nsk and the use of
financial mstruments Treasury pohicy and procedures are incorporated within the financial control
procedures of the Company
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Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007
1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
{t) Financial risk management (continued)

Denvative financial instruments, including cross currency swaps, interest rate swaps and forward
currency contracts are employed to manage the interest rate and currency risk arising from the
primary financial instruments used to finance the Company’s activities Matching of assets and
Irabilities m foreign currencies 1s also applied wherever practicable The Company actively mamntains
a broad portfolio of debt, diversified by source and matunty designed to ensure the Company has
sufficient available funds for operations

2 Critical accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with UK GAAP requires the use of estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and kabilities at reporting date angd the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Although these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may
differ from those estimates The estimates and assumptions that have a significant nisk of causing a
matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and habilities within the next financial period
are discussed below

(a) Fixed assets and depreciation

The estimated useful economic hives of fixed assets are based on management’s judgement and
experience When management 1dentifies that actual useful lives differ materially from the estimates
used to calculate depreciation, that charge 1s adjusted prospectively

The carrying valtues of fixed assets are also reviewed for impairment where there has been a trigger
event by assessing the present value of estimated future cash flows and net realisable value compared
with net book value The calculation of estimated future cash flows and residual values 1s based on
the Directors’ best estimates of future prices, output and costs and 1s therefore subjective

From 1 Apnil 2006, the Company has revised its methodology with regards to the capitalisation of
support costs that arise that are directly attnbutable and incremental to the delivery of the tangible
fixed assets of the Company The change 1n methodology followed a review of the cost allocation
principles and impact of the previous methodology This has resulted in the capitahsation of indirect
costs amounting to 15 7% (2005 14 6%) of capital additions, an increase of £24 Sm over the amount
that would have been capitalised under the previous methodology The change in methodology 1s not
considered a change 1n accounting pelicy and accordingly no prior year restatement 1s required

(b) Revenue recognition

The Company recognises revenue generally at the time of delivery and when collection of the
resulting receivable is reasonably assured Should management consider that the cniteria for revenue
recognition are not met for a transaction, revenue recognition would be delayed until such time as the
transaction becomes fully earned Payments received 1n advance of revenue recognition are recorded
as deferred revenue
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2 Critical accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(b) Revenue recognition (continued)

For regulated utility operations, the Company raises bills and recognises revenue i accordance with
its entitlements to receive revenue n line with the limits establhished by the periodic regulatory price
review process For water and wastewater customers with water meters, the revenue 1s dependent
upon the volumes supplied and includes an estimate of the volume supplied between the date of the
last meter reading and the period end Meters are read on a cyclical basis and the Company
recognises revenue for unbilled amounts based on estimated usage from the last billing through to the
end of the reporting peniod The estimate of sales value 1s calculated using a defined methodology
based on a measure of unbilled water consumed which 1s calculated from histonical billing
mformation

(c) Pensions

Within the UK, the Company operates two approved defined benefit schemes The Company accounts
for these schemes in accordance with FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’ with the cost of providing
benefits determined using the projected unit credit method, and actuanal valuations being carmed out
at each reporting date Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions, mncluding mortahty rates,
discount rates, expected returns on plan assets and compensation increases These actuaral
assumptions are reviewed annually and modified as appropriate The Company believes that the
assumptions utilised n recording obligations under the scheme are reasonable based on pnor
experience, market conditions and the advice of scheme actuaries However, actual results may differ
from such assumptions

(d) Accounting for provisions and contingencies

The Company 1s subject to a number of claims that are incidental to the normal conduct of 1ts
business These relate to and include commercial and contractual claims, which are handled and
defended 1n the ordinary course of business The Company routinely assesses the likelihood of any
adverse judgements or outcomes to these matters as well as ranges of probable and reasonably
estimated losses Reasonable estimates mvolve judgements made by management after considering
information including notifications, settlements, estimates performed by independent parties and legal
counsel, available facts, identification of other potentially responsible parties and their abihity to
contribute, and prior experience A provision 15 recognised when 1t 15 probable that an obligation
exists for which a rehable estimate of the obligation can be made and after careful analysis of the
individual matter The required provision may change n the future due to new developments and as
additional information becomes available Matters that either are possible obhgations or do not meet
the recogmtion cnitenia for a provision are disclosed, unless the possibility of transferring economic
benefits 1s remote
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2 Critical accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(e) Provision for doubtful debts

At each reporting date, the Company evaluates the collectability of trade receivables and records
provisions for doubtful receivables based on experience These provisions are based on, amongst
other things, comparisons of the relative age of accounts and consideration of actual wrnite-off history
The actual level of receivables collected may differ from the estimated levels of recovery, which
could impact operating results positively or negatively

1§ Deferred taxation

Full provision 1s made for deferred taxation, as required under FRS 19 ‘Deferred Tax’, at the rates of

tax prevailing at the period end dates unless future rates have been substantively enacted Deferred tax
assets are recognised where 1t 15 more likely than not that they will be recovered

3 Segmental analysis

The directors consider that the Company has one class of business and this 1s conducted wholly
within the United Kingdom
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4 Operating costs
Analysis of operating costs by type of expense
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
Note 2007 2005
£m fm
Staff costs 6 250.6 1777
Materals and consumables 39.2 284
Other operating charges 652.5 4289
Assets written off 10 9.0 -
Depreciation
- owned asset (infrastructure) 10 1311 860
- owned assets (non-infrastructure) 10 261.3 1980
- assets held under finance leases (non-infrastructure) 10 121 96
Rentals under operating leases
- hure of ptant and machinery 5.6 38
- other 8.0 56
Research and development 59 53
13753 0433
Own work capitalised (125.6) (594)
1,249.7 8839
Included n the above 1s auditors’ remuneration n respect of the following
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£000 £000
Fees payable to the company's auditors for the audit of the
company’s accounts 205 310
Fees payable to the company’s auditors and 1ts associates for
other services
- Other services pursuant to legislation 75 124
- Tax services 354 154
- All other services 151 150
Audit fees in respect of the Thames Water Lumted pension scheme 15 22
Total aggregate remmuneration 800 760
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5 Profit on sale of fixed assets

Profit on disposal of fixed assets

Taxation attnbutable, included n the charge for the period

6 Information regarding directors and employees

Aggregate directors emoluments

Salary
Bonus

Other benefits

Total aggregate emoluments

Period end
31 March
2007

£m

12.1

14

Period end
31 March
2007
£'000

925
244
829

1,998

Year end
31 December
2005

91

10

Year end

31 December
2005

£000

952

123

494

1,569

At 31 March 2007 no retirement benefits are accrumng to directors {December 2005 7) under a

defined benefit scheme

Included 1n the above, 1s compensation for loss of office £243,995 paid to S Buck and £187,153 paid to J

England (December 2005 £460,920 paid to J R Sexton)

Highest paid director

The hughest paid director duning the period was J England Full details of the lighest paid director can

be found in the Remuneration Report on page 40

Employee information

The average number of persons employed by the Company, including executive directors, during the

penod was

Average monthly number of enployees
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Penod end
31 March
2007
Number

5,285

Year end

31 December
2005
Number

4,748
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6 Information regarding directors and employees (continued)

Employment costs including executive directors’ remuneration were

Salanes and wages
Social security costs
Pension costs (note 24)

Total

Employment costs mcluded wathun research and development

costs
Net employment costs
7 Net interest payable and similar charges

Bank loans, overdrafis and other loans

- group loans

- bank loans

- ather loans
Finance charges mn respect of finance leases
Interest payable and sumilar charges

Interest recervable

Net interest payable and simlar charges
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Period end
31 March
2007

£m

206.8
150

28.5

2543

37

250.6

Period end
31 March
2007

£m

(167.5)
(28.7)
(10.7)

(12.3)

(219.2)

13.5

205,

Year end
31 December
2005

£m
1450
130
226

180 6

(29)

1777

Year end

31 December
2005

fm

(1029)
(25 1)
(76)
(10 5)
(146 1)

32

(142 9)




Thames Water Utilities Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2007
8 Taxation

{a) Analysis of charge in period

Note Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
Current period
Amounts payable 1n respect of corporation tax for the year 75.4 746
Adjustments n respect of previous periods (>.7) {4 6)
Total current tax 8(b) 69.7 700
Deferred tax
Ongmation and reversal of timung differences 17 22.6 231
Pension cost charge lower than/(in excess of) pension cost rehef
27 (13)
Adjustments 1n respect of previous penocds 17 6.5 25
Total deferred tax 31.8 243
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 101.5 943

(b) Factors affecting tax charge for period

The tax charge for the period 1s lower (2005 lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax n the
UK (30%) The differences are explained below

Period end Year end

31 March 31 December

2007 2005

£m £m

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 342.1 3227
Profit on ordinary activities multiphied by standard rate

of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (December 2005 30%) 162.6 96 8

Effects of

Income not taxable (intra-group disposals of property) (3.5) (18)

Capital allowances for period 1n excess of depreciation (21.6) (22 2)

Dusallowable expenditure 0.6 G5

Pension cost charge (lower than)/in excess of pension cost rehef (2.7) 13

Adjustments to tax charge m respect of previous penods (5.7) {46)

Current tax charge for the penod 69.7 700

The 2007 Finance Bill contains proposals under which the UK Corporation Tax rate will reduce from 30% to
28% with effect from 1 Apnl 2008 It was also announced that balancing adjustments on assets on which
Industmial Buildings Allowances (IBA’s) are claimed will no longer apply and there will be a phasing out of
annual wnting down allowances

At 31 March 2007 the above changes were not substantively enacted Had these changes been enacted, the
deferred tax habihity as at 31 March 2007 would have been reduced by £88 5m The IBA's available in the
period, equivalent to £27 2m per annum, will be phased out on a straight line basis over three years commencing
1 April 2008
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9 Dividends

Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
First interim pard 2 90p (December 2005 9 27p) per ordmary share 298 954
Second mtenm paid 8 86p (December 2005 5 79p) per ordinary share 91.2 596
Third interim paid 3 43p (December 2005 Nil) per ordmary
share 353 -
Fourth intenm paid 48 59p (December 2005 Nil) per ordinary share 500.0 -
6560.3 1550
10 Tangible fixed assets
Land and Plant and Infrastructure Total
bwldings equipment assets
£m £fm £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2006 (as restated) 2,0920 3,0302 3,0443 8,166 5
Additions 1146 3574 4501 N2 1
Disposals (107) (193) - (300)
Assets wiitten off - 90) - (90)
At 31 March 2007 2,195.9 3,359.3 3,494.4 9,049.6
Capital contributions
At 1 January 2006 (as restated) - - 461 0 4610
Additions - - 46 5 465
At 31 March 2007 - - 507.5 507.5
Depreciation
At 1 January 2006 5073 1,276 8 4747 2,258 8
Provided duning the penod 460 2274 1311 404 5
Disposals (26) (190) - (21 6)
At 31 March 2007 550.7 1,485.2 605.8 2,641.7
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2007 1,645.2 1,874.1 2,381.1 5,900.4
At 31 December 2005 1,584 7 1,753 4 2,1086 54467

The opening balances of infrastructure assets have been restated as a result of a musclassification n

previous years between cost and capital contributions
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10 Tangible fixed assets (continued)

The net book value of land and buildings 1s analysed as follows

Penod end Year end
31 March 31 December

2007 2005

£m £m

Freehold land and bwldings 1,622.3 1,561 1
Leasehold - over 50 years 9.1 924
- under 50 years 13.8 42

1,645.2 1,584 7

Depreciation has not been charged on freehold and leasehold land stated 1n the accounts at cost of
£30 Om (2005 £30 1m)

Tangble fixed assets at 31 March 2007 include assets 1n the course of construction of £926 1m (2005
£718 Tm)

Details of the Company’s tangibie fixed assets, which are held under finance leases are

Cost Net book vaiue
Period end Year end Period end Year end
31 March 31 December 31 March 3t December
2007 2005 2007 2005
£m £m £m fm
Plant and equipment 2725 2725 164.8 1769

Thames Gateway Water Treatment Plant

In June 2005 the London Borough of Newham, following a direction from the Mayor of London,
formally refused planning permussion for the Company's proposed Thames Gateway Water Treatment
Plant, employing desalination technology at Beckton in East London The site 1s operational land
owned by the Company An appeal was lodged and a public inquiry completed in June 2006 The
works carrned out to date are a combination of site preparation, for which planming permission 1s not
considered a requirement, a pilot plant constructed on the site to prove the technology, for which
planning permussion has been granted and some preliminary construction works in readiness for the
permanent plant which has been refused planning permission The works on site were ceased pending
the outcome of the public mquiry with the exception of work required to make the site safe and to
fulfil contractual obhgations To 31 March 2007 the Company has spent £68 4m, of which £15m1s 1n
respect of site preparation and the pilot plant On 14 June 2007, the Secretary of State for
Communities and Local Government and the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs accepted the decision of the Inspector who held the public inquiry that the appeal should be
allowed and that planning permussion should be granted, subject to an amended Section 106
Unulateral Undertaking, which will formally refer to the agreement of the parties as to the appomted
use of the desalation plant
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10 Tangible fixed assets (continued)
Upper Thames Major Resource Development Project

On 14 September 2006 the Company announced the proposed construction of a large reservorr to the
South West of Abingdon to ensure secunty of water supply n the longer term A penod of pubhc
consultation 1s n progress, which will be followed by an application by the Company for a
compulsory works order for the construction of the reservoir To 31 March 2007 the total spent on
this project was £26 7m, comprising principally costs of site selection, design and land acquisition 1n
the proposed area This expenditure has been capitalised on the basis that these costs are directly
attributable to the asset and that, because 1t 15 an essential part of longer term security of water supply
for southern England, 1t 1s anticipated that the project will go forward

11 Fixed asset investments
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m fm
Cost of shares in subsidianes 01 01

At 31 March 2007 the Company held more than 10% of the allotted share capital of the following
undertakings

Name of undertaking Nomunat value  Proportion of Activity

and class of nomunal value of

shares held issued shares held
Gemwel Limuted £1 Ordmary 50% Water and sewerage services
Thames Water Drainage £1 Ordnary 100% Sewerage management

Services Limuted

Thames Water Procurement Limuted £1] Ordinary 100% Procurement
Thames Water Utihties Finance lrmmited  £1 Ordinary 100% Finance company
County Wide Collections Limited £1 Ordinary 100% Debt collection

All of the above companies were incorporated and are registered 1n Great Britamn

At 31 March 2007 and 31 December 2005 the net asset values of Thames Water Dramage Services
Limted and County Wide Collections Limited were £2 and £1 respectively No profits or losses have
been made 1n erther of the periods concermed

At 31 March 2007 Thames Water Unlities Finance Limited had net assets of £71,000 (December 2005
£50,000) Profit for the perod ended 31 March 2007 £21,000 (December 2005 Nuil)

Thames Water Procurement Limuted had a deficit on reserves of £Nil at 31 March 2007 (December
2005 £1,523,000) Profit for the penod ended 31 March 2007 £1,523,000 (December 2005 £1,000)

Gemwel Limted has a statutory accounting reference date of 31 March At 31 March 2007 there were

net assets of £Nii (March 2006 £Nil) No profits or losses have been made n the current year (March
2006 £10,000 loss)
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11 Fixed asset investments (continued)

All of the above imvestments, with the exception of Thames Water Utilities Finance Limited, were

disposed of on 24 May 2007, to Thames Water Limuted

12 Stocks and work in progress

13 Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Other debtors

Insurance claims recervable
Prepayments and accrued mncome

14 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Bank loans
Obhgations under finance leases
Trade credtors

- Operating

- Caputal
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Insurance claims payable
Amounts payable mn respect of corporation tax
Amounts payable m respect of group rehef
Other taxaticn and social secunity payable
Accruals and deferred income

Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
81 i)
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
182.0 191 4
10.2 262
22,6 348
49.8 360
180.0 1780
444.6 466 4
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £fm
9.4 143
11.8 98
167.0 1100
209.2 1414
63.5 1569
49.8 360
- 324
23.5 28
4.7 48
192.0 3564
730.9 864 8

Amounts owed to group undertakings include interest bearing loans, which are described in more detail

m note 15
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15 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Bank loans

Obligations under finance leases

Amounts owed to group undertakings (see below)
Accruals and deferred income

Amounts owed to group undertakings are:

Inter company loans
- Within one year
- After more than one year

Non-loan amounts due within one year

Loan amounts owed to group undertakings, are comprised of

Period end
31 March
2007

£m

3355
203.8
2,8775

168.5

3,5853

Period end
31 March
2007

£fm

2,877.5

2,8775
63.5

2,941.0

Year end

31 December
2005

£m

3967
2156
1,671 8
1511

24352

Year end

31 December
2005
fm

1003

1,671 8

1,772 1
566

1,828 7

£2,877 5m (December 2005 £1,460 1m) owed to Thames Water Utihties Finance Limuted, a
subsidiary undertaking, of which £Nil {December 2005 £13 4m) 1s included within creditors

due within one year and £2,877 5m (December 2005 £1,446 7m) within creditors due after more

than one year

The loan from Thames Water Utilities Finance Limited reltates to Guaranteed Bonds that 1t has 1n 1ssue,
the net proceeds of which have been loaned to Thames Water Utilites Limited under the same
commercial terms Thames Water Utilities Limated has guaranteed the principal and mterest payments

of the subsidiary undertaking due under the terms of the bonds

Thames Water Limited has guaranteed the principal and interest payments of certain bank loans of the
Company The principal amount guaranteed as at 31 March 2007 was £332 5m (December 2005

£404 2m)
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15 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one yvear (continued)

Other loans and finance leases, as disclosed in more detail in note 16, are:

Period end Yearend
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
Inter company loans (as above) 2,8775 1,772 1
Finance leases
- Within one year 11.8 98
- After more than one year 203.8 2156
3,093.1 1,997 5
16 Financial instruments

FRS 25 requires the disclosure of the funding and treasury policy together with further details on
financial assets and habilities

Funding and treasury policy

The Company’s funding policy 1s to maintain a broad portfolio of debt The debt arranged via Thames
Water Utiliies Finance Limited 1s diversified by source and matunty 1n order to protect profits agamnst
risks ansing from adverse movements in interest rates and currency exposures

Denvative financial mstruments, including cross currency swaps and interest rate swaps, are employed
to manage the interest rate and currency nisks arising from the primary financial instruments used to
finance the Company’s activities

The Company’s treasury operations are managed centrally by a small specialist team within the Thames
Water Division and are managed as a cost centre, not a profit centre, no matenal open or speculative
positions are taken

Short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the financial instruments disclosures
Interest rate risk profile of financial liabilities and assets

After taking into account the Company’s interest rate and currency swaps, the interest rate risk profile of
the Company’s financial liabilities and assets 15 as follows
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16 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Fixed rate liadities

Total at Total at fixed Total at book  Weighted average  Weighted average

floating rates rates value nterest rate period untl

matunty for

which rate1s

fixed

2007 2005 2007 2005 2007 2005 2007 2005 2007 2005

£m fm im £m fm £m o % Years  Years
Bank loans &

overdrafts

- £ Sterling 108.9 1065 2360 3045 3449 4110 75 77 4.0 43
Orher loans &
finance leases

- £ Sterhng 215.6 5M6 28715 14929 3,0931 1,9975 55 33 A5 144

Total 3245 6111 3135 1,974 3,438.0 24085 56 58 3.0 126

The Company’s interest rate swaps convert £48 Om (December 2005 £50 4m) of floating rate
borrowing to fixed rate and £26 9m (December 2005 £26 9m) of fixed rate borrowing to floating rate
Cross currency swaps hedge currency risk on £81 8m (December 2005 £94 8m) of foreign currency

borrowing through conversion to Sterling

Short term lending bears mterest at rates linked to LIBOR

Financial assets

Total at floating

Total at fixed

Total at book

rates rates value

2007 2005 2007 2005 2007 2005

£m £m £m £m £m fm

Short term deposits 112.5 - - - 1125 -
Cash at bank and mn hand

- Sterling 894 103 - - 894 103

Total 201.9 103 - - 201.9 103

LIBOR 1s the benchmark rate for all cash at bank

Currency risk

The Company 1s not exposed to any sigmficant currency nisk after taking the effects of 1ts cross
currency swaps into consideration
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16 Financial instruments (continued)

Fair values

Fair value 1s the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length
transaction between mformed and willing parties, other than 1n a forced or hquidation sale The table
below sets out a comparison of the book and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments

Book value Book value Fair value Fair value
Period end Year end Period end Year end
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2007 2005 2007 2005
£fm im £m fm
Primary financial instruments
Financial assets
- Short term deposits 112.5 - 1125 -
- Cash at bank and in hand 89.4 103 894 103
Financial habilities
- Bank loans (332.5) (404 1) (337.3) (427 7)
- Other loans & finance leases (3,093.1) (1,997 5) (3,343.7) (2,317 5)
Derivative financial instruments
- Interest rate swaps - - {4.6) (78)
- Cross currency swaps {12.4) (69 (12.4) 03
Total {3,236.1) (2,398 2) (3,496.1) (2,742 4)

Primary financial mstruments include bonds, which are traded on a public market Fair values for
these have been calculated using the 31 March 2007 quoted prices Mark-to-market techmques
(discounting expected cash flows at prevailling interest and exchange rates) are employed 1n
computing fair values for the remaming fixed rate borrowing and all denvative financial instruments
Floating rate habilities have fair values, which approximate to book value

Book values of primary financial mstruments are shown gross of the effect of any hedging instrument

Therefore, the effect of revaluing foreign currency borrowing at closing rates 15 included n the fairr
valuation
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16 Financial instruments (continued)

Maturities

Bank loans and overdrafts

- Within one year

- Between one and two years
- Between two and five years
- After more than five years

Other loans and finance leases
- Within one year

- Between one and two years
- Between two and five years
- After more than five years

Loans are repayable between 2007 and 2055

= Loans wholly repayable after more than five years are

Bank loans
Other loans

e  Other loans include

- £330m 6 75% MTN Eurobond due 2028

- £200m 6 50% MTN Eurobond due 2032

- £600m 5 13% MTN Eurobond due 2037

- £175m 3 38% Index linked bond due 2021
- £300m 1 68% Index linked bond due 2053
- £300m 1 68% Index linked bond due 2055
- £225m 6 59% Guaranteed bond due 2021
- £250m 4 75% Guaranteed bond due 2010
- £200m 4 90% Guaranteed bond due 2015
- £200m 5 05% Guaranteed bond due 2020
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Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m fm
9.4 143
30.0 594
3055 2368
- 100 5
344.9 4110
11.8 1101
293 118
374.0 3720
2,678.0 1,503 6
3,093.1 1,997 5
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
- 1005
2,558.2 1,356 0
2,558.2 1,456 5
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16 Financial instruments {continued)

e Loans repayable by instalments after more than five years hence are

Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £fm
Finance leases 119.9 147 6

e The ranges of interest rates on outstanding bank loans are 1 7% to 8 4% (December 2005 1 0%
to 10 9%) and other loans and finance leases are 1 7% to 6 8% (December 2005 1 7% to 6 8%)

These nterest rates are those contracted on the underlying borrowing before taking account of interest
rate protection There are no interest free loans

Borrowing facilities

The Company previously relied on committed borrowng facilities from 1its ultimate parent company
RWE AG (December 2005 £150m) These facilities were cancelled when RWE AG disposed of
Thames Water Utihties Limited m December 2006 At March 2007 the Company has access to
commutted facihties of £700m through 1its parent company Kemble Water Limited

Thames Water Utilities Finance Limited has a £5 bilhon (December 2005 US$ 4 billion)
uncommitted Euro-Medium Term Note programme, which provides the Company with access to the
capital markets in a range of currencies and maturities At 31 March 2007, outstanding debt
obligations of Thames Water Utilities Finance Limited were £2,877 5m (December 2005 £1,460 1m),
with a weighted average term of 24 5 years (December 2005 15 years) at a weighted averaged rate of
5 49% (December 2005 5 49%)
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17 Provisions for habilities and charges

Provisions for habilities and charges consist entirely of a provision for deferred taxation There are no

amounts of deferred tax unprovided for (December 2005 £ml)

The movement in the provision was as follows:

Provision brought forward at 1 January 2006
Deferred tax charge

- Current period

- Pnior period

Provision carned forward at 31 March 2007

An analysis of amounts provided at current tax rates 1s as follows:

Accelerated capital allowances
Other tuming differences

Total deferred tax provision:

Included above
Deferred tax hability/(asset) provided on pension surplus/liabiity

The pension asset/hability per note 24 15 shown net of deferred tax
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Note

8(a)

3{(a)

Period end
31 March
2007

£m

922.6
(6.0)

916.6

916.6
4.8

921.4

fm

887.5

226

6.5

916.6

Year end

31 December
2005

£m

8923
(48

8875

8875
(22 3)

865 2
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18 Share capital

Authorised
1,029,050,000 (2005 1,029,050,000) ordmnary shares of £1 each

Allotted, called up and fully paid
1,029,050,000 (2005 1,029,050,000) ordinary shares of £1 each

19 Share premium reserve

At 1 January and 31 March/ 31 December

Prermuum of 25p on 1ssue of 400 mullion £1 ordinary shares

20 Profit and loss reserve

At 1 January as previously reported

Restaterment - FRS 17
Restatement - FRS 21

At 1 January - Restated
Profit for the penod/year
Drvidends
(Defiat)/retained profit

Actuanal gamn on pension scheme
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension scheme

As at 31 March/31 December including total pension asset/hability

Total pension (asset)/liability

As at 31 March/31December excluding pension (asset)/hability
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Note

24

24

24

Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£fm fm
1,029.0 1,629 0
1,029.0 1,629 0
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
100.0 1000
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£fm £m
561.3 442 3
- (74 2)
- 954
561.3 463 5
240.6 2284
(656.3) (155 0)
415.7) 734
81.2 349
(24.4) {10 5)
2024 5613
(11.1) 519
191.3 6132
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21 Reconciliation of movements i shareholder’s funds
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
Profit for the financial penod/year 240.6 228 4
Dividends {656.3) {1550)
Net movement in shareholder's funds (415.7) 734
Shareholder’s funds at the beginming of the penod/year 1,690.3 1,571 3
as previously reported
Restatement - FRS 17 - (742)
Restatement - FRS 21 - 954
Shareholder's funds at the beginning of the period/year 1,690.3 1,592 5
as restated
Actuanal gain on pension scheme (note 24) 812 349
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension scheme (24.4) (10 5)
Shareholder's funds at the end of the period/year including pension
(asset)/hability 1,331 4 1,690 3
22 Capital commitments and contingencies
Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£fm fm
Contracted for but not provided 372.0 1559

In addition to these commitments, the Company has long-term capital investment plans to provide for
future growth

Guaranteed Standards Scheme and Non-Financial data integrity

(a) Guaranteed Standards Scheme

In January 2006 Thames Water informed Ofwat that it had discovered that 1t had been

e faihng to achieve required performance standards in customer services set out 1n the GSS, and

» failing to make the payments due to customers as required under the GSS
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22 Capital commitments and contingencies (continued)

Under the terms of a notice 1ssued by Ofwat (PN 21/06) on 19 July 2006 the company was advised
that Ofwat proposed to impose a financial penalty for our failure to achieve customer service
performance standards under the Guaranteed Standards Scheme (GSS)

Ofwat 1s required to 1ssue notice within 12 months of the failure to achieve customer service
standards and the notice applies only to those performance standard falures that have occurred since
July 2005

As a result Ofwat and Thames Water jomntly appomted Emst & Young LLP to camry out an
independent nvesngauon mw these mieguiaritics Ofwat also asked Emst & Young to examne
whether there had been any mus-reporting of Thames Water's customer service performance to the
regulator Emst & Young have concluded their mvestigation and have submitted their final reports to
Ofwat

(b) Non-Fmancial data integrity

On 7 June 2006, Ofwat 1ssued notice under s 203(2) of the Water Industry Act 1991 stating that 1t
considered that the company may have contravened conditions J and/or M of 1ts appointment m
providing mformation 1n 1ts June Return which may not be rehable, accurate or complete  This notice
would allow Ofwat to take steps to impose penalties on the company i respect of information
contamned 1n the June Return 2005 1f 1t 15 satisfied that there has been any breach

The company has been required to produce further mformation, as requested by Ofwat, which 1t has
done 1n accordance with a mutually agreed timetable

Any financial penalty which may be imposed m respect of each failure or breach may not exceed 10%
of the Company's turnover as set out m Water Industry (Determination of Turnover for Penalties)
Order 2005 No 477 Thames Water's regulated tumover for 2005-06 was £1 4 billion

The directors believe that to disclose the amount set aside for any penalty would be commercially
prejudicial and have applied the exemption m FRS 12 not to disclose

Mogden Sewage Treatment Works

A number of residents living close to the Modgen Sewage Treatment Works have filed a claim against
the company under Articles 1 & 8 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on Human Rights
1n respect of odour and mosquitoes caused by the works A pnivate action 1s beimng pursued by 1326
claimants, 775 Group A claimants (those with property interests) and 551 Group B claimants (those
without property mterests) The Company does not have details of individual claims values and 1s
bemng advised by Counsel and external legal advisors on the conduct of the defence of the claims. The
Company has made an accrual m the financial statements for these matters

British Waterways Board

The Company 1s also m discussions with the Bnitish Waterways Board 1n relation to payment for
abstraction costs from the River Lee There 1s a large differential between the company’s
interpretation of the costs to be charged under the River Lee Act and that of the Brihsh Waterways
Board The expectation 1s that the Secretary of State (DEFRA) will appoint an Inspector to hold an
mmquiry and resolve the 1ssue in due course

The Company has set aside amounts considered by the directors to be an adequate reserve for all legal
and similar claims
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23 Operating leases

At 31 March 2007 the Company was committed to making the following payments during the next year
n respect of non-cancellable operating leases

Period end 31 March Year end 31 December
2007 2005
Land and Other Land and Cther
buildings buildings
£m £fm £m £fm
Leases which expire.
Within one year 0.2 1.0 02 a3
Between one and two years - 0.7 - 06
Between two and five yvears 0.9 0.4 08 02
After more than five years 4.6 - 43
57 2.1 53 11
24 Pension schemes

Pension arrangements for the majonty of the Company’s employees are of the defined benefit type,
funded through pension schemes covering employees within the Thames Water Group, whose assets are
held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds In addition, there are
unfunded defined benefits provided for directors and semor employees affected by the cap on earnings,
which cannot be provided through approved arrangements

The Company’s pension arrangements are of the group multi-employer scheme nature, such that the
Company’s penston schemes’ assets and liabilities are included with those of other companies n the
Thames Water Group The Company contnibutes the vast majonty of the contributions mto the schemes
and any consequence of there being a surplus or a deficit in the schemes 1s felt by the Company
Accordingly, the Directors have decided 1t 1s appropniate to recogmse the total surplus and deficit of
the two Group penston schemes within these financial statements

The service cost of the Company, as included with these financial statements, represents the net of the
total service cost of the Group schemes and the pension contributions made by the other group
companies into the schemes 1n the financial period

In addition to the ongoing cost of the UK Pension arrangements, the Company operates discretionary
arrangements under which 1t augments benefits on retirement These augmentations are funded by way
of additional employer contributions to the schemes In the peniod ended 31 March 2007 payments
amounted to £7 8m (December 2005 £1 8m)

The latest fult actuanial valuation was undertaken as at December 2004 This valuation has been
updated at 31 March 2007 by Hewitt, Bacon and Woodrow using revised assumptions that are
consistent with the requirements of FRS 17 and shown n the table below

The next full actuanal valuation as at 31 December 2007 will be undertaken by Hewatt, Bacon and

Woodrow (the independent and professionally qualified consulting actuanes to the schemes) during
2008
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24 Pension schemes (continued)

Thames Water Group has taken advice from Hewitt, Bacon and Woodrow 1n respect of the funding
position of the Group pension schemes With consideration of the funding position of the schemes, the
Company contribution rate has been increased where necessary in accordance with Hewitt, Bacon and

Woodrow recommendations

The main financial assumptions used for FRS 17

Price inflation
Qalary INCreases
Pension increases

Discount rate

purposes are as follows

31 March 31 December 31 December

2007 2005 2004
3.2% 29% 29%
4.2% I9% 39%
3.2% 29% 3 0%
5.4% 4 8% 53%

The fair value of the assets held by the pension schemes, the long-term expected rate of return on each
class of assets and the value of the schemes’ liabilities assessed on the assumptions described above

are shown 1n the following table

31 March 2007 31 December 2005 31 December 2004
Long term Long term Long term
rate of rate of rate of
retfurn Value Tetum Value return Value
expected £m  expected fm  expected fm
Equities 8.8% 577.8 80% 5257 80% 4450
Bonds 53% 66.0 45% 638 45-50% 4770
Gults 4.5-4.8% 4724 38-40% 4451 - -
Property 7.8% 95.0 8 0% 1180 8 0% 870
Other assets 5.5% 35.2 45% 23 4 0% -
Total market value of assets 1,246.4 1,1549 1,009 0
Present value of schemes' habilities (1,205.9) (1,229 1) (1,113 9)
Irrecoverable surplus (24.6) - -
Surplus/{deficit) in the schemes 159 (742) (104 9)
Related deferred tax (lability)/asset (4.8) 223 315
Net pension surplus/{deficit) 111 519 (734
This can be analysed as follows: 31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m £m
Thames Water Muror Image Penston Scheme 373 368
Thames Water Pension Scheme (26.2) (8871
11.1 (519)
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24 Pension schemes (continued)

Analysis of amount charged to operating prefit:

Current service cost
Past service cost

Total operating charge included in operating profit

Analysis of amount credited to other finance income:

Expected retum on pension scheme assets

Impact of restnction on expected retumn on assets due to
wrecoverable surplus

Interest on pension scheme habihtes

Net finance income

Analysis of amount recognised in statement of recognised gains and losses:

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets
Expenence gains and losses ansing on the scheme habihities

Changes 1n assumptions underlying the present value of scheme habilites

Adjustments relating to urecoverable surplus

Actuarial gain recogmised 10 STRGL
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Period end Year end
31 March 31 Decemnber
2007 2005
£m £m
33.5 226
(5.0) -
28.5 226
Penod end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m fm
87.5 654
(7.3) -
{72.9) (58 5)
7.3 69
Perod end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
fm fm
7.1 984
11.9 247
79.5 (88 2)
{17.3) -
81.2 349
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24 Pension schemes (continued)

The mover& in the surplus/(deficit) during the period to 31 March 2007 was as follows:

Period end Year end
31 March 31 December
2007 2005
£m f£m
Deficit 1n scheme at start of penod (74.2) (104 9)
Operating charge (28.5) (22 6)
Euployer conunbuiions 30.1 115
Other finance income 73 69
Actuanal gain 81.2 M9
Surplus/(deficit) in scheme at end of period 15.9 742
The details of experience gains and losses for the period to 31 March 2007 are as follows:
Period end
31 March Year end 31 December
2007 2005 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m
Dfference between the expected gains and losses on scheme assets
Amount 7.1 98 4 370 969
Percentage of scheme assets 0.6% 8 5% 37% 10 6%
Expenence gans and losses on scheme habilities
Amount 11.9 247 (3% 1) 46
Percentage of the present value of the scheme habilities 1.0% 20% 35% 05%
Total amount recogrsed n statement of total recogmsed gamns and losses
Amount 81.2 349 (802) 285
Percentage of the present value of the schemes' habilities 6.7% 2 8% 72% 30%
25 Intermediate and ultimate parent company and controlling party

The directors’ consider that Kemble Water Holdings Limited, a company incorporated 1n the United
Kingdom, 15 the ulimate and controlling party and the largest group to consolidate these financial

statements

Kemble Water Investments Limited, a company mcorporated in the United Kingdom 1s the
intermediate parent company and the smallest group to consolidate these financial statements

Copies of the accounts of all of the above companies may be obtained from The Company Secretary’s
Office, Thames Water Group, Clearwater Court, Vastern Road, Reading, Berkshire, RG1 8DB
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